Examining Accessibility of Services for Sexualized Violence: Understanding the Survivor's Experience

by

Nora S. Conboy

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia July 2021

Dalhousie University is located in Mi'Kma'ki, The ancestral and unceded territory of the Mi'kmaq. We are all Treaty people.

Table of Contents

Abstract	v
Acknowledgements	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction	
Literature Review	4
Terminology	
Individuals Who Have Experienced Sexualized Violence	5
Supports/Services	
Accessibility	
Populations at Increased Risk	
Women	
Insecurely Housed and Unhoused Individuals	
2SLGBTQ+ Population	
Indigenous Populations	
Impact of Sexualized Violence	
Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Program	
Experiences Accessing Services	
Healthcare Responses Stigmatization	
Re-victimization	
Rural and Remote Communities	
Informal Supports	
Prosecution Rates of Adult Cases of Sexualized Violence	26
Conclusion	29
Chapter 2: Methods	30
Objectives	30
Research Questions	30
Methodology	31
Feminist Interpretive Phenomenology	
Limitations of Phenomenology	
Research Design	37
Sampling and Recruitment	37
Data Collection	
Interviews	
Data Storage	39
Data Analysis	40
Trustworthiness	41
Ethics	42

Chapter 3: Findings	44
The Participants	44
Themes	46
Themes and Sub-themes	46
Recognizing Sexualized Violence	47
Questioning Whether They Were Deserving of Support	47
Mental Health Crisis	
Disclosure to Family and Friends	
Re-traumatizing Services	
Neglect of Survivor's Needs "Culture Blind"	
Barriers to Access	
Supportive Service Experience	
Trauma-Informed Healing	
Social Supports	
Ripple Effect	
Post Traumatic Growth	
Ongoing Effects of Trauma	
Gaps in Services and Education	64
Available Services	
Appropriate Training	
Sexual Health Education	
Justice Reform	68
Conclusion	71
Member Checking	72
Chapter 4: Discussion	
Foundational Knowledge	81
Comprehensive Sexuality Education	82
Trauma-informed Care	88
Principles of Trauma-informed Care	
Implementing Trauma-informed Care	
Policing Agencies	
Chapter 5: Conclusion	108
Knowledge Translation	110
Limitations	111
Conclusion	113
References	114
Appendix A: Recruitment Material	126
Appendix B: Consent Form	129
Annandiy C. Interview Guide	135

Appendix D: Resources for Participants	
Appendix E: Participant Screening Questions	
Appendix F: Letter of Support	
Appendix G: Confidentiality Agreement	

Abstract

Sexualized violence has a profound impact on an individual's health and wellbeing, yet only a fraction of survivors seek support from formal services. Studies exploring survivor decision processes on accessing services and supports for sexualized violence are lacking. The purpose of this study was to understand the lived experience of survivors who attempted to access, accessed, or did not access services/supports for sexualized violence, within Halifax Regional Municipality in Nova Scotia. Qualitative interviews were conducted with 10 individuals, informed by feminist phenomenology. The following seven themes were discovered: Recognizing Sexualized Violence, Re-traumatizing Services, Supportive Service Experience, Ripple Effect, Gaps in Service and Education, Foundational Knowledge, and Trauma-informed Care. Participants shared their experiences and provided suggestions to improve care for survivors. This research highlighted the voices of survivors and recommendations have been made to use trauma-informed care and increase education to strengthen services and supports for survivors across multiple sectors.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank the ten individuals who participated in this study. This project would not have been possible without your generosity and vulnerability in sharing a difficult part of your story. I am truly inspired by your strength, wisdom and candor and I am honored to have worked with you to improve supports for other survivors. My thoughts are with you in your healing journey.

Thank you to my supervisor, Dr. Jean Hughes, for your guidance throughout this process. Your expertise, patience and encouragement have been invaluable. Thank you to my committee members, Dr. Megan Aston and Dr. Lois Jackson, for your enthusiastic support and thoughtful insight. I am grateful to have worked with a committee with such different areas of expertise that have strengthened this study.

I would not have been able to make it through the graduate student experience without the support from my friends, family and classmates. Thank you to my parents, Gary and Helen Gough-Conboy, thank you for always believing in me and supporting me in everything and all that I do. Also, thank you for always double checking my notions. Special thank you to my sister, Eileen Conboy, for being a constant inspiration, and for all the hard work you do advocating for survivors. I am in awe of all that you have accomplished and truly would not have been able to complete this program without your unwavering support, brainstorming sessions and brilliance. To my partner, Dylan Chew, thank you for standing by me throughout this journey, I am so grateful for your constant support, delicious meals, patience in solving my tech issues, and willingness to give your thoughtful opinion when I ask, "does this make sense?" To all my friends and classmates, thank you for always understanding, encouraging, and championing me. Your support has kept me afloat and I am so lucky to have you in my life.

This study was supported by a Dalhousie University Entrance Scholarship and the Margaret M. Cragg Award. These sources of funding allowed me to focus on my schooling and have been invaluable in completing this thesis.

Finally, to all survivors: I believe you.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Statistics Canada has estimated 22 in every 1000 Canadians self-reported experiencing sexualized violence (Conroy & Cotter, 2017). In 2014, 633,000 individuals self-reported incidences of sexualized violence, in Canada (Perreault, 2015). It is difficult to determine the exact number of incidents of sexualized violence. Conroy and Cotter (2017) estimated that in Canada, approximately 7% of incidents of sexualized violence were reported to the police. When incidents of sexualized violence are not reported to healthcare professionals, or police, following an assault, preventative treatments for sexually transmitted infections or pregnancy, for example, are often delayed which can have serious impact on an individual's health and wellbeing. Pregnancy, sexually transmitted infections, physical injuries as well as the psychological effects of an assault can negatively impact one's health, requiring further lifelong treatment (Resnick et al., 2000).

There is limited research highlighting the lived experience of survivors of sexualized violence when accessing or attempting to access formal health-related supports/services. There is a lack of literature exploring how and why survivors decide to access or not access services and supports for sexualized violence. Current literature attempts to quantitatively determine the prevalence of sexualized violence and the frequency with which healthcare, social and police services for sexualized violence are accessed. There is also a gap in the research that focuses on understanding the lived experience of individuals accessing formal health-related supports/services for sexualized violence. Formal health-related supports/services for sexualized violence include Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners (SANE), counsellors, physicians, nurses, emergency

department and clinic staff. The Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner program currently is recognized as best practice in addressing sexualized violence (Mahon, 2016).

I worked as a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner for over three years and have worked with a variety of clients. Throughout my experience as a SANE I was made aware of how prevalent sexualized violence has been in our society. Although we have seen over 100 clients each year through the SANE program at Avalon Sexual Assault Centre, which provides service to all of Halifax Regional Municipality (HRM) (Mahon, 2016), there are still many survivors who do not use services post sexualized violence. My work as a SANE piqued my interest in research; to gain more understanding of why people use or do not use services; and how current services for sexualized violence could be improved and made more accessible for survivors.

Given the geographic area that I covered with SANE, it became clear that further research was needed to build more timely and effective services for survivors living within HRM. Gaining a deeper understanding of the experience of survivors who have, and have not, accessed supports/services for sexualized violence (both formal/informal, and health-related/not health related) can help build knowledge regarding changes needed to improve current services within the community. Furthermore, by using a feminist approach and informed by interpretive phenomenology, this research intends to build further understanding regarding the lived experience of survivors navigating supports and services for sexualized violence. In addition, using this holistic understanding, my research intends to identify and promote ways to improve current formal health-related supports/services for sexualized violence, to best fit the needs of survivors.

This research study explored the following questions: (a) What was the lived experience of individuals who have contacted, attempted to access, accessed, or not accessed supports/services for sexualized violence, whether they were formal, informal, health-related or not?

- (b)What formal health-related supports/services did survivors of sexualized violence contact, attempt to access, access, or did not access post sexualized violence, and why?
- (c) What other supports/services, that may not have been formal or health-related, did survivors of sexualized violence contact, attempt to access, access, or did not access post sexualized violence, and why?
- (d) What factors influenced a survivor's decision to access or not access healthrelated supports/services?
- (e) What recommendations did survivors have regarding how health-related supports/services could be improved and made more accessible?

Literature Review

Sexualized violence has a profound influence on an individual's health and wellbeing, yet only a fraction of survivors seek assistance from formal services for sexualized violence (Bletzer & Koss, 2006). Sexual violence is defined by the World Health Organization [WHO] (2006) as:

Any sexual act, attempt to obtain a sexual act, unwanted sexual comments or advances, or acts to traffic, or otherwise directed, against a person's sexuality using coercion, by any person regardless of their relationship to the victim, in any setting, including but not limited to home and work.

While performing a review of the current literature on individuals accessing formal services post sexualized violence, several reoccurring themes arose: the prevalence of sexualized violence; the populations at increased risk for sexualized violence, and the detrimental effects that sexualized violence can have on an individual's health and wellbeing. Further research is required to gain a better understanding of survivors' lived experiences, specifically the intersectional experience of sexualized violence (Reeves & Stewart, 2015). Intersectional, or intersectionality, refers to the insight that demographic characteristics of an individual (race, class, gender, sexuality, ethnicity, nation, ability, and age) are not exclusive identities but operate as "reciprocally constructing phenomena" (Collins, 2015). In particular, there has been little research highlighting the experience of individuals who have suffered sexualized violence while making the decision regarding whether, or not, to seek out formal health-related supports/services for sexualized violence.

This literature review will provide the following information: a brief definition of the language surrounding sexualized violence; the language that will be used; highlight the populations who are at increased risk for having experienced sexualized violence; the personal and societal impacts of sexualized violence; and information regarding the Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner program locally, and throughout Canada and around the world. Finally, what is known about survivors' experiences of accessing services for sexualized violence will be discussed, as well as prosecution rates and outcomes of sexualized violence within the criminal justice system.

Terminology

Individuals Who Have Experienced Sexualized Violence

The terminology used to refer to individuals who have experienced sexualized violence is a highly debated topic. Labels such as "survivor" have often been used in an effort to empower individuals who have experienced sexualized violence, whereas labels such as "victim" can be seen as negative and have been thought to lead to poorer coping and health outcomes (Williamson & Serna, 2018). Some individuals who have experienced sexualized violence may not identify as a "survivor" throughout their healing journey and may prefer to use "victim". The labels that individuals who have experienced sexualized violence prefer to use is a personal decision. Both terms have been commonly used within the literature and these terms will be used interchangeably throughout this proposal, where appropriate, to provide clarity. The term "sexualized violence", as defined within the introduction of this literature review, will be used throughout. Acts of sexualized violence are rarely born from sexual desires or lust. Indeed, they are acts of overpowering and dominance. The term sexualized violence attempts to separate the

belief that these acts are *sexual* in nature and, instead, emphasizes that they are *violent acts* which have been sexualized.

Supports/Services

The terms "formal," "health-related" and "informal" supports/services will be used to refer to supports and services accessed by survivors of sexualized violence. Formal supports/services are provided in hospitals or through community organizations which are financially supported and dedicated to providing resources and care to survivors, usually provided by trained professionals and volunteers (Ullman & Filipas, 2001). Health-related supports/services are those supports and services which focus on the physical and mental health and well-being of an individual. Formal health-related supports/services for sexualized violence can include, for example: Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners (SANE), counsellors and mental health services, physicians, nurses, emergency department, clinic staff and community health centres. Other formal services, that are not health-related, include police and legal services. *Informal* supports include, for example, family, friends, online support forums, communities and groups, and peer support groups. For the purpose of this research, *formal health-related supports/services* will be the focus, although it is necessary to explore the entirety of survivors' experiences including other *formal* or *informal* forms of supports and services they may have used, as these experiences may have influenced their decision to access or not access formal health-related services.

Accessibility

This study explored the accessibility of formal supports/services for sexualized violence, and survivor's experiences accessing (using), attempting to access, or not

accessing these services. Penchansky and Thomas (1981) define "access" as a "concept representing the degree of fit between the clients and the system." They highlight five specific "dimensions of access": availability, accessibility, accommodation, affordability, and acceptability. Availability refers to whether the supply of existing services is adequate for the volume of potential clients. Accessibility refers to the "fit" between the location of the service and the location of the potential service-users, which encompasses aspects such as location, transportation, travel time, distance, and cost. Accommodation refers to the clients' "ability to accommodate" the way in which the service is delivered to clients, i.e., by appointment, walk-in, scheduling, hours of operation, telephone services, etc., and the clients' perception of their appropriateness." Affordability refers to the cost of the desired service and the client's ability and willingness to pay for said service, including insurance coverage and credit arrangements. Acceptability refers to the "fit" of client's attitudes with the specific characteristics of the service and service providers, such as: age, sex, ethnicity, religious affiliation, and the type of facility from which the service is provided and the neighbourhood in which it is located. Services and service providers may also have attitudes toward specific client characteristics which may make themselves more or less available to accommodate specific clients (Penchansky & Thomas, 1981).

Populations at Increased Risk

While individuals of any age, gender, ability, ethnicity, sexuality or religion can be a victim of sexualized violence, certain populations have been identified as being at increased risk for experiencing or having experienced sexualized violence (Conroy & Cotter, 2017). In Canada, the majority of incidents of sexualized violence (94%) involve

women as victims and are perpetrated by men. Perpetrators are often known to the victim as either a friend, acquaintance or neighbour (Conroy & Cotter, 2017).

Women

According to Statistics Canada, women were the victim in 87% of instances of sexualized violence in 2014. The rate of sexualized violence committed against Canadian women aged 15 to 24 years was considerably higher than any other age or gender group. According to Statistics Canada, in 2014, 41% of all reported cases of sexualized violence were reported by University and College students (Conroy & Cotter, 2017). Among all cases reported by students, 90% were committed against women (Conroy & Cotter, 2017). Rates of sexualized violence were approximately eight times higher among individuals who were single compared to those who were married or common-law. The rate of sexualized violence among single women was nine times higher than that of women who were married, common-law, or among single men (Conroy & Cotter, 2017).

The rate of sexualized violence among individuals with disabilities is approximately two times higher than individuals without disability. Women and individuals with mental disabilities are at particular risk for experiencing sexualized violence. The rate of sexualized violence among individuals with a mental disability is five times higher than that of individuals without disability (Conroy & Cotter, 2017). Alcohol consumption tendencies significantly increases the rate of sexualized violence among women (Howard et al., 2008). In Canada, the rates of sexualized violence are approximately three times higher among women who self-reported binge drinking within the last month, than those who did not (Conroy & Cotter, 2017). Conversely, individuals

who were under the influence at the time of their assault self-reported being less likely to report their victimization to the police (Monk & Jones, 2014).

Human Trafficking. Human trafficking involves the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt of persons in order to exploit or facilitate the exploitation of that person into many different forms of labour including sexual exploitation (Cotter, 2020; WHO, 2012). Human trafficking is a global issue, but the range and severity is largely unknown due to the highly illegal and invisible nature of this crime (WHO, 2012). Data from reports to authorities largely suggest that human trafficking is predominantly a gendered crime. Women and children are more likely to be trafficked into the sex industry and as domestic servants (WHO, 2012). In Canada, 97% of police-reported human trafficking were women and girls, and 81% of persons accused of human trafficking since 2009 have been men (Cotter, 2020). Cotter (2020) identified that the majority of victims of human trafficking tend to come from marginalized or vulnerable populations. Nova Scotia recorded the highest rate of police reported incidents of human trafficking, per capita, from 2009-2018 (Cotter, 2020). Evidence gathered from police investigations within Canada and advocates suggest that Halifax is part of a route used to transport victims of human trafficking from Atlantic Canada to other larger Canadian cities (Cotter, 2020). Among incidents of human trafficking reported to the police, 44% involved other violations, two-thirds of which involved offences related to sexual services (Cotter, 2020). The vast majority of victims of human trafficking were lured or groomed by someone known to the victim, such as a friend or acquaintance and current or former intimate partner (Cotter, 2020). Victims of human trafficking can experience physical and mental side effects similar to those of sexualized violence, with trauma and

mental health concerns persisting much longer than that of physical side effects (WHO, 2012).

Individuals in Sex Trade

Individuals working in the sex trade are three times more likely to self-report experiencing sexualized violence than individuals who do not work in the sex trade (Hudson et al., 2010). Individuals who work in the sex trade are not only at increased risk for sexualized violence, they also are at increased risk for more violent assaults and more serious injury resulting from sexualized violence (Andermann, 2016).

From the limited research available, individuals who work in the sex trade experience marginalization when accessing services for sexualized violence (DuMont & McGregor, 2004). Marginalization is a process in which individuals, or communities, are "peripheralized on the basis of their identities, associations, experiences, and environments," (Dodgson & Struthers, 2005). Marginalization further includes a vulnerability due to genetic, social, cultural, and/or economic circumstances which can have profound effects on the delivery of healthcare services to individuals (Dodgson & Struthers, 2005). Individuals who work in the sex trade often do not report experiences of sexualized violence to the police for fear of criminal charges due to their work. They also often face judgement, blame, disrespect, and insensitivity toward the circumstances in which they have experienced sexualized violence, their work and their day-to-day lives. The misconception that individuals "choose" to work in the sex trade marginalizes these individuals and fails to see the conditions and contexts in which they are forced to live by society (DuMont & McGregor, 2004).

Individuals working in the sex trade often experience mental health concerns which can contribute to their marginalization as well as their hesitancy to access services for sexualized violence (DuMont & McGregor, 2004). Unfortunately, these individuals often experience sexualized violence multiple times in their lives, and some seek services, causing service providers to label them with judgmental labels such as "Frequent Flyer." From personal experience working with this population, this lack of understanding and empathy did not go unnoticed by these individuals.

Insecurely Housed and Unhoused Individuals

Individuals who are "insecurely housed" and "unhoused" include those who do not have reliable housing circumstances, such as individuals who live on the streets or rely on friends, "couch-surfing" situations and community shelters for housing.

Researchers estimate as many as one third of women who are unhoused or insecurely housed have experienced sexualized violence (Hudson et al., 2010).

Insecurely housed and unhoused individuals share many challenges with individuals who work in the sex trade when accessing services for sexualized violence. Exposure to sexualized violence, as well as physical violence, among insecurely housed and unhoused individuals is often associated with poor general health, psychiatric comorbidities such as post-traumatic stress disorder, depression and suicidal ideation (Hudson et al., 2010). Many of the women who engage in sex work, and who are insecurely housed or unhoused, are often escaping circumstances of intimate partner violence and have exhausted all social support avenues prior to resorting to these survival tactics. Similar to those working in the sex trade, insecurely housed and unhoused individuals are hesitant to report their victimization to the police due to previous negative

experiences with the criminal justice system and police themselves. A lack of empathy and compassion toward these individuals by police can cause fear and distrust within this population. Due to their low socioeconomic status, not having coverage for services such as medications, and blood work can prevent this population from receiving adequate care for sexualized violence (Hudson et al., 2010). Having transportation to a hospital as well as having access to a telephone, for example, are further barriers that this population faces when attempting to access services for sexualized violence (Mahon, 2016). A lack of access to a telephone prevents clients' follow-up from SANE and from scheduling, or inquiring about counselling services.

In my experience working with this population, their unsafe or insecure housing situation often contributes to their experience of sexualized violence. Some individuals may have chosen to forego safety in exchange for a place to sleep, forcing them into dangerous situations. Often, after these individuals have received their treatment, they return to these unsafe living situations where the perpetrator of their assault may reside.

2SLGBTQ+ Population

Members of the 2SLGBTQ+ population are more likely to self-report a history of sexualized violence than heterosexual individuals. Among the 2SLGBTQ+ population, transgender individuals report experiencing sexualized violence twice as frequently as cisgender individuals (Langenderfer-Magruder et al., 2016). Much like their heterosexual peers the victimization of individuals who identify as women is staggering, 46% of lesbian women and 75% of bi-sexual women self-report having experienced sexualized violence within their lifetime (Langenderfer-Magruder et al., 2016). Balsam and colleagues (2005) determined that, compared to the 2% of heterosexual men who report

having experienced sexualized violence, one in ten gay and bisexual men self-report having experienced sexualized violence. Much like the heterosexual and cisgender population, there is a severe under-reporting of victimization among 2SLGBTQ+ individuals (Langenderfer-Magruder et al., 2016). The true breadth and prevalence of sexualized violence among the 2SLGBTQ+ population is difficult to fully estimate, much like other populations, due to the shame, guilt and fear associated with disclosing sexualized violence (Todahl et al., 2009).

There are several misconceptions that healthcare providers and police may have surrounding sexualized violence, such as heterosexist assumptions about which genders experience sexualized violence (Todahl et al., 2009). These perceptions reduce the availability of services for sexualized violence to 2SLGBTQ+ individuals and subjects them to accusations and judgement when these services are sought. Assumptions that male identifying individuals do not experience sexualized violence or that those with a sexuality that is not heteronormative is abnormal, can cause 2SLGBTQ+ individuals to feel at fault, targeted and unsafe when accessing these services. Fear of having to disclose gender identity or sexual orientation and having it become the focus of the service interaction, or perceived cause of the assault, can cause 2SLGBTQ+ individuals not to seek necessary services for health and wellbeing, especially regarding sexualized violence. Exclusionary perceptions and beliefs further marginalize this population (Todahl et al., 2009).

Indigenous Populations

In Canada, members of the Indigenous population are three times more likely to self-report experiencing sexualized violence than non-Indigenous populations. Among all

reports of sexualized violence in which the survivors were Indigenous, 94% were women (Conroy & Cotter, 2017). In 2016/2017, under 5% of individuals presenting to the SANE program, within HRM, self-identified as Indigenous (J. Crowell, personal communication, November 2, 2018).

When compared with non-Indigenous, Indigenous populations have been found to suffer from poorer health, including lower life expectancy, elevated risk of chronic diseases (e.g., diabetes and obesity), higher rates of infectious diseases, and a higher prevalence of substance use and misuse, addiction, and suicide (Hajizadeh et al., 2018). Furthermore, they have been found to face higher rates of incarceration and victimization (Scrim, 2017) as well as higher rates of poverty, which directly influences an individual's health (Hajizadeh et al., 2018). These health disparities reflect years of inequities due to social, political, and economic disparities related to colonization (Adelson, 2005).

Canada's historical maltreatment and abuse of Indigenous populations has had serious ramifications on their health and wellbeing to this day. The Canadian government forcibly attempted to remove the unique and diverse cultures of Indigenous peoples through colonization, Residential Schooling, the "Sixties Scoop," and the loss of land, family, and language, (Truth and Reconciliation Commission, 2015). Brave Heart (1998) stated that although post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) may describe the manifestation of trauma in those it affects, the diagnosis was too narrow to describe the complex experiences of Indigenous populations; therefore, historical, and intergenerational trauma has more accurately acknowledged the cumulative trauma of the Indigenous populations. Intergenerational trauma is referred to, by Pearce and colleagues (2008) "as a collective emotional and psychological injury over the lifespan and across generations." Although

Canada has formally apologized for the enforcement of Residential Schooling and its treatment of Indigenous communities across the country, there are still harmful policies and biases which contribute to health and economic disparities among Indigenous populations today (Hajizadeh et al., 2018). The colonial legacy of abuse is also evident in the current prevalence of intimate partner violence against Indigenous women (Adelson, 2005). Due to the historical inequities that Indigenous populations face, they are often marginalized by mainstream services.

Indigenous women in Canada are four to five times more likely to experience intimate partner violence, including sexualized violence, than non-Indigenous women (Scrim, 2017). Scrim (2017) found that 25% to 50% of Indigenous women were survivors of child maltreatment, specifically sexual abuse. Brownridge and colleagues (2017) proposed that child maltreatment (including physical, sexual, mental abuse and neglect, as well as children witnessing forms of abuse in the household) was a predictive factor of intimate partner violence.

Survivors of sexualized violence struggle to form and maintain meaningful intimate partnerships and can have difficulties overall nurturing healthy relationships. Mental health concerns among survivors of sexualized violence include mood disorders, low self-worth, post-traumatic stress, and a variety of issues related to anxiety (Reeves & Stewart, 2015). The cyclical nature of abuse and family violence is a result of historical trauma (Scrim 2017; Truth and Reconciliation Commission, 2015). Although the prevalence of violence is high, intimate partner violence and sexualized violence are likely to go unreported to authorities. Within Indigenous populations, Scrim (2017) found that 74% of individuals who experience intimate partner violence, sexualized violence,

and family violence did not report their victimization to police. However, this study did not indicate whether healthcare services were accessed.

In 2014, Amnesty International, a human-rights organization, highlighted the disproportionate victimization of Indigenous women and girls in Canada. Not only were the incidences of violence amongst this population higher than other populations, but the severity of violence was also much higher (Amnesty International, 2014). The continued abuse of Indigenous populations is also exemplified in Canadian homicide rates. The national homicide rate of Indigenous women is seven times higher than that of non-Indigenous women (Amnesty International, 2014; Boyce, 2016; O'Donnell & Wallace, 2011).

Impact of Sexualized Violence

Self-reported data from the "2014 General Social Survey (GSS) on Canadians' Safety (Victimization)" found that only approximately 17% of individuals who self-reported having experienced sexualized violence sought "support-services" for their victimization. These "support services" included crisis centres or crisis lines, victim services, counsellors or psychologists, and community centres. Further, only approximately 6% of self-reported survivors of sexualized violence disclosed their victimization to a healthcare professional (doctor or nurse); yet approximately 64% disclosed their victimization to informal supports such as a friend or neighbour (Conroy & Cotter, 2017). These statistics indicate that survivors are more likely to disclose experiences of sexualized violence to a person trusted by that individual, than a trained professional in healthcare or the criminal justice system.

Individuals may face a number of physical, and mental health, concerns as a result of sexualized violence (Benoit et al., 2015). When survivors do not report or disclose their victimization, these health concerns remain unaddressed which can result in further traumatization and negative health consequences (Resnick et al., 2000). Physical health concerns resulting from sexualized violence may include: "assault related injuries, sexually transmitted infections (STIs), unwanted pregnancy, pelvic pain, vaginal bleeding or infection, urinary tract infections, gynecological problems, gastrointestinal disorders, a range of chronic pain disorders, and short-term and long-term sexual health problems" (Benoit et al., 2015). Due to their victimization, individuals who have experienced sexualized violence use more healthcare services throughout their lives (Benoit et al., 2015; Resnick et al., 2000).

Sexualized violence does not always result in serious physical injury; however, survivors of sexualized violence often experience a number of mental health concerns (Benoit et al., 2015). These mental health concerns include: depression, PTSD, sleep disruptions, somatic complaints, substance use and misuse, behavioural problems, suicidality (Krug et al., 2002) and anxiety (Eisenberg et al., 2016). From a survey study conducted on college campuses, survivors often experience anger, confusion, guilt, shock, stress, agitation, disbelief and fear following an assault (Eisenberg et al., 2016). Mental health concerns can lead to physical health concerns such as stress related illness, substance use and risk-taking behaviours. Survivors face challenges maintaining intimate relationships as well as relationships with family, friends, coworkers, and peers. As a result of these challenges, survivors are often isolated and have less social support, which can further negatively affect their mental health and wellbeing (Benoit et al., 2015).

Aside from the personal impact that sexualized violence has on an individual's health and wellbeing, sexualized violence can also have a serious impact on the economy. Although there have been no formal calculations of the economic impact of sexualized violence, using the methodology developed to measure the cost of intimate partner violence (Zhang et al., 2012), McInturff (2013) provides a rough estimate of the economic impact of sexualized violence. In Canada, the direct costs of sexualized violence are estimated to be between \$546 million and \$1.9 billion per year. This estimate does not include factors such as the costs of attempted, or completed, suicides as a result of experiencing sexualized violence. This cost is expected to increase each year. Based on this estimate, the cost is approximately \$334 per person, each year, in Canada. This is comparable to the cost of smoking, in Canada, which is \$541 per person, each year (McInturff, 2013).

Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Program

Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners are specially trained nurses with expertise in forensic evidence collection and have specialized training in crisis intervention as well as in providing care in a confidential, non-judgmental environment (Mahon, 2016). The Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Program model was developed to address the needs of survivors who were receiving inadequate treatment from physicians and nurses in hospital emergency departments. The first SANE program began in 1976 in Tennessee, USA (Girardin, 2005). Prior to the implementation of SANE programs, survivors often faced long wait times in emergency departments as physicians and nurses were unable to accommodate the lengthy forensic exam, DNA collection and interview process. Aside from lengthy wait times, survivors also experienced a lack of privacy during

examinations and were often required to receive examinations from male physicians, which contributed to a client's re-traumatization and "the second assault", described later in this literature review (Girardin, 2005). SANE services are predominantly provided in the hospital setting, including the emergency department, gynecology department, clinics affiliated with the hospital, or "self-standing" clinics (Girardin, 2005).

To receive SANE credentials, SANE trainees must undergo extensive training including over 40 hours of classroom and clinical education. The International Association of Forensic Nurses provide educational guidelines for SANE training. The educational requirements for SANE include a minimum of 40 hours of classroom education from an accredited provider and additional components such as simulated clinical experiences which are not included in the 40 hours of classroom education (International Association of Forensic Nurses, 2018). In addition to clinical and classroom education, SANE are required to complete a minimum of 10 speculum examinations supervised by a physician or nurse practitioner experienced in female genital exams, as well as an additional 40 hours of supervision and evaluation by a senior SANE (Mahon, 2016).

Within the Halifax Regional Municipality (HRM) the SANE program is community-based and delivered through a local not-for-profit organization, Avalon Sexual Assault Centre. The community-based model is in contrast to most programs nationally and internationally, which are provided in hospital emergency departments and clinic settings (Girardin, 2005). The Avalon SANE model is also unique in that two nurses are on-call 24 hours a day, at all times (Mahon, 2016), in contrast with other programs which typically have a single nurse response. Individuals of all genders and all

ages who have experienced sexualized violence can use SANE services for up to 7 days (170 hours) post assault. Services are provided to survivors in the emergency department of the four main hospitals in HRM, the IWK Health Centre, the QEII Health Sciences Centre, Dartmouth General Hospital, and the Cobequid Community Health Centre. The Avalon SANE program employs a full-time coordinator, administrative assistant and 15-18 contracted on-call registered nurses. Funding for the Avalon SANE program is provided by the Nova Scotia Department of Health and Wellness through the District Health Authority, and the IWK Health Centre for Women, Children and Families (Mahon, 2016).

SANE provides guidance to clients by highlighting community services such as counselling, and clinics necessary for follow-up care (Campbell et al., 2005). Services that SANE provides include physical assessment, STI prophylaxis, pregnancy risk assessment and prevention, a forensic exam (including DNA evidence collection), discussion of medical, legal and follow-up options, information for community support resources, and discussion of follow-up from the SANE. All services are provided from a client centred, trauma-informed approach, meaning that clients are in control of their care and may choose any number of services available to them. Elliott et al. (2005) define a "trauma-informed approach" as an understanding that all clients have experienced some form of trauma which affects their life and development, and that care should be sensitive to this, so as not to retraumatize these individuals. Witness testimony in a court of law may also be provided by SANE if a client decides to criminally pursue the perpetrator of the assault (Mahon, 2016).

Local, national, and international studies have identified the value of SANE in the healthcare setting, and the potential for a positive impact on the healing journey of a survivor of sexualized violence (Campbell et al., 2005; Mahon, 2016; Stermac et al., 2005). Although existing literature recognizes SANE as best practice in addressing sexualized violence, there is limited research highlighting the lived experiences of individuals accessing such services. In particular, there is limited research exploring the experiences of individuals accessing services from a unique community-based program, such as the Avalon Sexual Assault Centre SANE program.

Experiences Accessing Services

Healthcare Responses

There are a limited number of studies exploring the experience of survivors accessing formal health-related supports/services for sexualized violence. One Canadian study by DuMont and colleagues (2017) sought to compare the experiences of Indigenous and non-Indigenous women accessing specialized healthcare services for sexualized violence using a quantitative survey method to collect data immediately following the healthcare intervention. The study was limited in that the individuals agreeable to participate in the research were satisfied with the assistance and healthcare provided to them. As is the nature of survey studies, there was very little opportunity for participant elaboration regarding their experiences. In addition, the survey itself was not designed specifically for the Indigenous population nor did it touch on experiences unique to that population, such as perception of discrimination or stereotyping (DuMont, et al., 2017).

In another study, DuMont and colleagues (2003) used patient, perpetrator, and sexual assault characteristics to explore the probability that survivors would report their

assault to the police. Participant's information was gathered from emergency room documentation. From this exploration, DuMont and colleagues (2003) were unable to find statistically significant results to suggest the existence of predictive factors that influence a survivor's decision to report their assault. Some factors thought to influence underreporting included: self-blame, guilt, shame and embarrassment, helplessness, a desire to keep the assault private, helplessness, fear of retaliation from the perpetrator of the assault, and fear of not being believed as well as fear of judgement from peers. A visible physical injury and an excessive level of violence were the most convincing predictive factors for reporting victimization that DuMont and colleagues (2003) were able to determine. In this study, the intersectional influences of one's lived experience were not included in the list of factors that could potentially affect a survivor's decision to report an assault, or access services, post sexualized violence.

Stigmatization

Survivors often experience stigmatization when reporting or disclosing their victimization to peers and support services (Kennedy & Prock, 2018). "Rape mythology" and the perception of "real rape" and the "real victim" contribute to the stigmatization of survivors of sexualized violence (DuMont et al., 2003). DuMont and colleagues (2003) note that "rape mythology" often characterizes sexualized violence as "an act of violent, forceful penetration committed by a stranger during a blitz attack in a public, deserted place. The victim is portrayed as a morally upright white woman who is physically injured while resisting". These societal beliefs about sexualized violence influence a survivor's perception of self-worth following the assault. The fear of stigmatization, or anticipatory stigma, can play a role in whether survivors seek support services, and their

healing process following the assault. Fear of stigmatization often leads to survivors engaging in isolating and avoidance behaviours which further prevents survivors from seeking support services (Kennedy & Prock, 2018).

Re-victimization

Survivors often face discrimination, judgement and experience re-traumatization when attempting to access services for sexualized violence (Shaffer et al., 2018). A study by Campbell (2006) compared the first-hand experiences of survivors accessing medical and legal services for sexualized violence with the experience of the professionals providing these services. The study explored which services were offered to survivors and if service providers engaged in re-traumatizing, or "second assault," behaviours (Campbell, 2006). Campbell (2006) defined the "second assault" as "insensitive victimblaming treatment," by the services designed to protect these survivors which exacerbate the trauma of the assault. Survivors and service providers were administered a verbal "checklist" style interview. This study found that service providers were unaware of the emotional response that survivors would have while accessing services and, therefore, were unaware of the harmful behaviours and tendencies in which they were engaging (Campbell, 2006).

In South Africa, Steinbrenner and colleagues (2017) conducted a phenomenological study exploring the experiences of six South African women accessing services for sexualized violence. Participants described experiencing re-traumatization when accessing services from police, medical staff (nurses) and when pursuing their assailant in court. These harmful interactions included being "laughed" at by police when reporting their victimization, not being provided with privacy during questioning,

receiving judgmental treatment from nurses, and being required to face their assailant in a court of law (Steinbrenner et al., 2017).

Rural and Remote Communities

Research on sexualized violence in rural communities has identified certain consistencies. Sexualized violence in rural communities is often perpetrated by someone known to the victim (e.g., acquaintance, peer, family, etc.) and is highly underreported. Due to the closeness of the community and its members, and therefore, the lack of anonymity among residents, survivors may be reluctant to seek services for sexualized violence. In addition, many rural communities often lack the proper services to address the needs of survivors of sexualized violence (Hankivsky & Cormier, 2009). Rubin (2008) identified barriers to providing services for sexualized violence in rural and remote communities across Nova Scotia and Canada. These barriers include:

Insufficient funding for rural services, safety issues and 'burnout' of sexual assault workers, high staff turnover, public scrutiny/lack of anonymity (survivor's service use), retractions of sexual assault disclosures, lack of access to specialized treatment and diagnostic resources, lack of other specialized service providers, geographical isolation, limited telecommunications, turf wars and service provider resistance to change, problems with the criminal justice system, delayed court proceedings, ideological loneliness of some service providers, denial of existence of sexual assault by some service providers, denial of existence of sexual assault by community residents.

Hankivsky and Cormier (2009) emphasize the lack of appropriate healthcare services (e.g., those related to reproductive health, domestic violence, substance use and

sexually transmitted infections) and the difficulties accessing the limited services available to individuals living in rural and remote communities. Often, small communities do not have culturally appropriate interventions for sexualized violence and intimate partner violence. The familiarity of residents within rural communities can inhibit an individual's right to confidential reporting of sexualized violence (Rubin 2008).

Informal Supports

Informal supports include, for example, intimate partners, family, friends, coworkers, online support forums, communities and peer support groups. Conroy and Cotter (2017) noted that the majority of individuals who self-reported incidents of sexualized violence disclosed their victimization to a friend or neighbour, a fraction compared to those who reported their experience to the police or a healthcare provider. Milliken and colleagues (2016) note that informal supports such as friends, family and intimate partners can provide emotional and social support to survivors. Informal supports are also noted to have helped survivors access formal services and increased the probability that a survivor used those services, which can have a positive effect on their healing journey (Milliken et al., 2016). Starzynski and colleagues (2005) note that women have self-reported receiving more negative reactions from informal supports when disclosing experiences of sexualized violence compared to those disclosing nonsexual assaults. Furthermore, Starzynski and colleagues (2005) suggest that the negative reactions from informal supports associated with disclosures of sexualized violence, highlights the unique perspective regarding sexualized violence embedded within greater society.

Prosecution Rates of Adult Cases of Sexualized Violence

According to Statistics Canada in 2009-2014, 12% of incidents of sexualized violence reported to the police led to a criminal conviction. Of those incidents that led to criminal convictions, only 7% received a custody sentence (Rotenberg, 2017). The majority of cases of sexualized violence were perpetrated by someone who was known to the victim (87%); however, only 47% of cases in which the assailant was known to the victim proceeded through the criminal justice system. This is compared to the 64% of cases perpetrated by a stranger to the victim which proceeded through the criminal justice system (Rotenberg, 2017). Social media movements such as #MeToo have increased the number of police reported incidents of sexualized violence, yet there is no change in the proportion of cases which proceed through the criminal justice system, and ultimately result in conviction (Rotenberg & Cotter, 2018).

Greeson and colleagues (2008) produced a *Step-by-Step Practitioner Toolkit for Evaluating the Work of Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE) Programs in the Criminal Justice System*. The goal of the toolkit, which was created and empirically validated, was to provide SANE programs with a step-by-step resource to determine if SANE had an impact on cases of sexualized violence in the criminal justice system, within their own community (Greeson et al., 2008). Greeson and colleagues (2008) intended to address a gap in literature surrounding the impact and effectiveness of SANE programs in the criminal justice system. The toolkit also provides information on how to understand and analyze the data collected. SANE programs can use the data to determine rates and frequencies of the level of progression that cases tend to reach within their community and determine areas of strength and weakness within their current program

(Campbell et al., 2014). Campbell and colleagues (2014) also recognize that given the limited research that exists surrounding this topic it may not reflect the impact of an individual SANE program within a community.

Campbell and colleagues (2012) retrospectively compared the rates of prosecution of adult cases of 'sexual assault' prior to the implementation of the SANE program (n=156) to the rates of prosecution of cases of 'sexual assault' following the implementation of SANE (n=137). The study was conducted using data from a town in a Midwestern State of USA. Campbell and colleagues (2012) found that the number of cases *not referred* to the police for prosecution decreased from 49% prior to the SANE program to 43% after the SANE program was implemented. The rate of guilty pleas, or trial convictions, *increased* from 24% of all cases prior to the SANE program to 29% after the implementation of the SANE program (Campbell et al., 2012). These results are in accordance with the hypothesis highlighted by Campbell and colleagues that the SANE program positively affected case progression outcomes within the criminal justice system (Campbell et al., 2012). This study collected retrospective data from 12 years (5 years prior to, and 7 years following, the implementation of the SANE program) (Campbell et al., 2012).

Valentine and colleagues (2016) used a tool developed by Greeson and colleagues in 2008, *Step-by-Step Practitioner Toolkit for Evaluating the Work of Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE) Programs in the Criminal Justice System*. Valentine and colleagues (2016) conducted a retrospective study involving post-only data i.e., adult sexual assault cases following the implementation of the SANE program (n=270), spanning 9 years from 2003-2011 (Valentine et al., 2016). The toolkit recommended

excluding the data from the first full year that the SANE program was implemented, as the program was not fully established at that point. The post-only test method required researchers to compare the outcomes of adult cases of 'sexual assault' within the criminal justice system that had involved the SANE program, to two "other urban sites", which did not have SANE programs, to evaluate the program's impact (Valentine et al., 2016). Valentine and colleagues (2016) found that of the 9% of adult case of 'sexual assault' which had criminal charges filed, 6% were successfully prosecuted, which is less when compared to the two "other urban sites" without the SANE program, which found 9-15% of cases were prosecuted. Little information is provided regarding the comparison group, referred to as "other urban sites."

According to a report from Mahon (2016), the Avalon Sexual Assault Centre SANE program (Halifax, Nova Scotia) conducted a program evaluation, including a study on the outcomes of 'sexual assault' cases with SANE involvement, within HRM. The report found that the involvement of SANE in cases of sexualized violence did not significantly differ when compared to the rate of prosecution prior to the implementation of the SANE program in HRM (Mahon, 2016).

Conclusion

A review of the literature has highlighted the populations at increased risk for sexualized violence such as women, individuals working in sex trade, insecurely housed and unhoused individuals, 2SLGBTQ+ and Indigenous populations. This review of the literature also explored the formal health-related services for sexualized violence such as the Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner program, the limited qualitative research on the experiences of survivors accessing services for sexualized violence as well as the stigmatization and re-victimization they have faced. Much of the current literature available on sexualized violence quantitatively explores the prevalence of sexualized violence and the populations at increased risk of violence. However, there exists a gap in knowledge surrounding the lived experience of survivors who access healthcare services post sexualized violence, as well as factors which influence survivors to access, or not access, supports/services for sexualized violence, and their decision to access particular services (if any). There is also a gap in research from Canada, and within contexts as unique as the sexualized violence response within Nova Scotia (community based Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner programs with a two-nurse approach). Gagnon and colleagues (2018) called for further qualitative research with survivors of sexualized violence who have not disclosed their victimization to formal services, as these individuals may have specific recommendations to address barriers to accessing formal services for sexualized violence. By using a feminist lens with an interpretive phenomenological approach to gain the perspective of survivors, researchers can begin to address this gap and provide insight into how services can be enhanced.

Chapter 2: Methods

The following section will discuss the research objectives and questions, design, methodology, sampling, data collection, analysis, and ethical considerations of the research study.

Objectives

There were three general objectives of this research. Objective 1: To gain a deeper understanding of the lived experience of survivors of sexualized violence and the actions they took to seek assistance or not. Objective 2: Explore which supports/services survivors used (if any), how and why they came to the decision to use them. Objective 3: Determine, from the survivors' perspective, how they believe available supports/services could be improved and made more accessible, to better fit the needs of survivors, and how these suggestions can be applied to nursing and other formal health-related supports/services.

Research Questions

The specific study questions for this study included: (a)What was the lived experience of individuals who have contacted, attempted to access, accessed, or not accessed supports/services for sexualized violence, whether they were formal, informal, health-related or not? (b)What formal health-related supports/services did survivors of sexualized violence contact, attempt to access, access, or did not access post sexualized violence, and why? (c) What other supports/services, that may not have been formal or health-related, did survivors of sexualized violence contact, attempt to access, access, or did not access post sexualized violence, and why? (d) What factors influenced a survivor's decision to access or not access health-related supports/services? (e) What

recommendations did survivors have regarding how health-related supports/services could be improved and made more accessible?

Methodology

For the purpose of this research, a feminist lens was applied to interpretive phenomenology, as the aim of this study was not to describe the survivors' experiences but to interpret the meaning of the survivors' experiences, the effect (if any) that support/services for sexualized violence had on their healing, and ways to improve supports/services.

Feminist Interpretive Phenomenology

Phenomenology is a qualitative research method as well as an expansive philosophical movement (Lopez & Willis, 2004). The modern day "founding father" of phenomenology, Edmund Husserl, a German philosopher, sought to investigate the absolute truth of human experience. This approach is now referred to as *descriptive phenomenology*, which seeks to describe the essence of experiences of the lived-world in which people are "detached subjects existing in a world of objects" (Dreyfus, 1987, as cited in Walters, 1995). The lived-world refers to the world as we experience it in the moment, prior to reflection (van Manen, 2016). Husserl sought to observe the lived experience objectively and proposed the concept of "bracketing," to enable the researcher to suspend judgment and biases and perform research free of influence of previous experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Martin Heidegger, a student of Edmund Husserl, rejected Husserl's use of bracketing and his view of humans as subjects in a world of objects, and proposed that "an understanding of the person cannot occur in isolation from the person's world"

(Dreyfus, 1987, as cited in Walters, 1995). Heidegger conceptualized "Dasein" as being the aspect of an individual which explores its own existence and state of "being" (van Manen, 2016). Heidegger emphasized that individuals' realities are influenced by the world in which they live, and that human reality cannot be objectified (Walters, 1995). This concept applies to participants as well as researchers (Lopez & Willis, 2004). This approach to phenomenology is referred to as *interpretive or hermeneutical phenomenology*. The focus of hermeneutic inquiry lies beyond the description or essence of an experience and seeks to clarify the meaning of these experiences. Meaning is not always known to the participant but can be found through the recounting of the experience (Lopez & Willis, 2004).

The concept of situated freedom is important to interpretive phenomenology. Situated freedom is an existential phenomenological concept that refers to the freedom that all individuals have to make choices; however, this freedom is incomplete. Individuals are constrained by the conditions of their day-to-day lives. Every individual has roles and responsibilities in their daily lives that make up their reality and produce meaning (Lopez & Willis, 2004).

Feminism is a lens which, when applied to phenomenology, allows us to understand women's orientation to the world (Goldberg et al., 2009). Sexualized violence can occur to any individual of any race, age, gender, sexual orientation and ability, yet it is predominantly and disproportionately a gendered crime (Mahon, 2016). The understanding of a woman is influenced by the woman's lived experience within the social contexts and the values that society has placed on her existence (Goldberg et al.,

2009). A feminist approach to research aims to "promote social change, respect, understand and empower women" (Campbell & Wasco, 2000).

The feminist lens also provides an epistemology which accepts an individual's experience as a legitimate knowledge source, which aligns well with the trauma-informed approach to care (Elliott et al., 2005) that I practice as a nurse. Feminism does not only concern itself with inequalities of the sexes, but with societal power imbalances, race, and class; and therefore, applies to all those who have been victims of sexualized violence (Campbell & Wasco, 2000). There are systemic power imbalances which survivors may encounter when attempting to access, or accessing, formal services for sexualized violence, such as the power of knowledge that a healthcare-provider may exude over their clients/patients (Koeck, 2014). These systemic power imbalances can influence a survivor's decision to access certain services, as well as their perception of their experience attempting to access, or accessing, a support or service (Health Council of Canada, 2012).

Existentials. van Manen (2016) highlights four pillars of interpretive phenomenology that are referred to as "existentials," which pervade the lived-world of every individual, regardless of their reality. They include *spatiality, temporality, corporeality,* and *relationality*. During the research process, these "existentials" can provide a guide for reflection (van Manen, 2016). These elements are often unconscious to the participant. A phenomenological approach to understanding the participants' lived experience provides an opportunity to unveil these "existentials" and gain insight into the emotional experience of the individual (Tembo, 2016).

van Manen (2016) refers to *spatiality* or lived space as "felt space." An individual exists physically in the world. The concept of *spatiality* refers to an individual's "situatedness." An individual's "situatedness" is not only about geographical location, but about the spaces that individuals occupy and how those spaces, in turn, influence individuals (van Manen, 2016). "...lived space is a category for inquiring into the ways we experience the affairs of our day-to-day existence; in addition, it helps us uncover more fundamental meaning dimensions of lived life" (van Manen, 2016, p.103). The formal services available for sexualized violence, specifically healthcare services, are predominantly delivered within clinical settings (emergency departments, blood collection clinics, doctors' clinics) which may be anxiety provoking to certain individuals and populations. A fear of these clinical settings may deter some individuals from accessing formal health-related supports/services or influence their experiences when accessing these supports/services.

Beings are subjected to the constraints of time and use time as a measurable structure. The concept of *temporality*, or lived time, refers to "awareness of time through the experience of being in time" (Mackey, 2004). Heidegger conceptualized *temporality* as the "ground for our awareness of existence," (Mackey, 2004) and acknowledged that past, present and future can be experienced together. *Temporality* also refers to the disruption that experiences can create in time. Experiences can alter an individual's future, or change perceptions of the past, as well as slow down, or speed up, how time is experienced in the present (Mackey, 2004). Past experiences stay with individuals as they move through time and influence their day-to-day existence (van Manen, 2016). Previous personal, or familial, experiences with formal service systems may influence an

individual's decision on whether, or not, they should access services post sexualized violence (Hudson et al., 2010). Those who have had previous negative experiences may distrust the formal services and may ultimately decide not to seek care post sexualized violence. Conversely, those with positive experiences may believe that they can use formal service systems for all their needs.

Corporeality, or lived body, refers to how we exist as bodies in the lived-world. Individuals move through, and interact with, the lived-world through their bodies (van Manen, 2016). Humans exist in, and with, the body; it is through the body that individuals are able to have human interaction with other individuals from within their own body (Tembo, 2016). One's perception of an individual's body can differ from others, depending on their feelings toward that individual (van Manen, 2016). Our bodies are tied to our individual lived-world. Merleau-Ponty (1962) states, "...our body is not primarily in space: it is of it' (p. 171). The mind and body cannot be separated, what affects the body affects the individual (Goldberg et al., 2009). It is common for those who experience sexualized violence to employ a variety of unconscious coping mechanisms to survive trauma, such as dissociation. Dissociation is a disruption in "the normal integration of consciousness, memory, identity, emotion, perception, body representation, motor control, and behavior" (American Psychiatric Association, 2013) caused by traumatic events. Dissociation can cause a "separation" of mind and body, which contributes to a survivor's difficulty recalling events, or even consciously acknowledging that a traumatic event has occurred (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). This dissociation may contribute to a survivor's delay in caring for themselves physically and

mentally after an assault. Trauma can take time to process and during this time, a survivor may not access formal services.

Relationality, or lived-other, refers to the relations with other individuals in shared space within the lived-world. Lived-other is felt through the body, through physical contact and through perception of others and their body (van Manen, 2016). Previous experiences with formal services such as healthcare professionals can have a profound impact on whether individuals will access further formal services. Healthcare professionals who provide culturally appropriate and competent care to populations who have experienced marginalization may begin to build trust within the healthcare setting which may influence these populations to seek further services (Health Council of Canada, 2012).

Limitations of Phenomenology

As previously stated, interpretive phenomenology is not only a qualitative research method, but an expansive philosophical movement (Lopez & Willis, 2004). The existential nature of interpretive phenomenology has been viewed as a limitation to the methodology as it is too vast and philosophical to be "rigorous." However, interpretive phenomenology as a methodology provides researchers flexibility and creativity to use the words of the participants to inform the phenomenon under inquiry. This flexibility and creativity can be an asset when working with diverse and complex populations (Pringle et al., 2011). The use of small sample sizes in interpretive phenomenological studies often has been seen as a limitation of the methodology, as small sample sizes can lack diversity. Pringle and colleagues (2011) emphasize, however, that fewer participants can allow for richer and more in-depth analysis of the data.

Research Design

Sampling and Recruitment

Purposive sampling was used to attain a sample population of individuals who were survivors of sexualized violence and either have, attempted to, or have not, accessed formal health-related supports/services for sexualized violence. Dukes (1984) recommends a sample size between three and ten participants. For the purpose of this research, the goal was to interview eight to ten participants. Participant's experiences with other supports/services they may have accessed for sexualized violence that may not be formal or health-related were explored as they may have affected their decision to access, or not access, formal health-related supports/services. The participants were required to be 19 years of age or older, able to speak English, able to consent and selfidentify as having experienced sexualized violence. Sexualized violence was defined by the participant. Biros (2018) highlighted that the ability to consent to participate in research is determined by an individual's decisional capacity. Decisional capacity regarding research is the ability of an individual to "understand and logically process the information that is necessary to make an informed decision regarding study participation," (Biros, 2018).

Recruitment included flyers around various institutions within HRM, including a university campus (Dalhousie University), Avalon Sexual Assault Centre, and other relevant community and healthcare services, such as walk-in clinics, as well as local community organizations (Halifax Public Libraries). MacWilliams and colleagues (2016) had success recruiting participants for research on a topic of similar sensitive and traumatic nature (women who had miscarried in emergency departments) by using social

media and other online classifieds (such as Facebook, Kijiji, Instagram and email forwarding). A Facebook group and Instagram page were created for the study, and recruitment material, including the study specific contact information, was posted. The majority of participants were recruited through these online methods.

Individuals who were interested in participating in the research contacted the researcher (using contact information solely designed for this study, provided on recruitment material, including a unique email address and a toll-free number that was created during the recruitment phase). The researcher addressed questions or concerns that the potential participant had regarding the study and verified that the participant was not a former client of the researcher. To identify past clients, the researcher notified potential participants of her name and role (Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner through Avalon Sexual Assault Centre) to determine if they were a past client by their name.

Data Collection

Interviews

Data on the experience of individuals who contacted, attempted to access, accessed, or did not access, formal health-related supports/services for sexualized violence were collected through individual, one-on-one, semi-structured interviews with open-ended questions, at a mutually agreeable time and private location. van Manen (2016) highlights two main functions of interviewing within phenomenology: (1) it provides a means to explore and gather experiential narrative data, which will provide a source to develop deeper understanding of a human phenomenon, and (2) it assists in developing a conversational relationship with the participant about the meaning of the phenomenon or experience. Semi-structured interviews and the use of open-ended

questions allows the researcher to guide the participants' reflections of an experience, and also allows for a conversational relationship between researcher and participant (van Manen, 2016).

In appreciation of participants donating their time and for their candidness in sharing their lived experience, participants were provided an honorarium in the form of a \$25 gift card to Amazon or a local grocery store of their choice.

Reflexivity. As per Creswell and Poth, (2018), reflexivity is a way for researchers to position themselves within the research study. Positioning is based on the researcher's work experiences, cultural experiences, history and any biases, preferences and preconceptions that the researcher may have (Polit & Beck, 2017). I, the researcher, identify as a Caucasian cis-gendered woman. More specifically, I am a registered nurse who worked in specialized healthcare services for sexualized violence, as a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner. These aspects provided me, the researcher, with assumptions of my own concerning the phenomenon of inquiry, which I identified prior to, and throughout, data collection. Written reflexive-comments were used throughout the research process to address any experience or observation that I had as a result of the research. This allowed me to be explicit about my "position" within the intended research (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Data Storage

The interviews were transcribed verbatim from audio recordings. The audio recordings and transcribed interviews were saved electronically on a password protected USB drive. As per the recommendation of Creswell and Poth (2018) backup copies of the electronic data were made and the data were anonymized to protect the identity of

participants. The USB drive and participant ledger were then locked separately in filing cabinets in a locked office within the School of Nursing at Dalhousie University.

Data Analysis

In order to analyze the collected data, the researcher transcribed, verbatim, the recorded interviews herself to gain familiarity with the content. Thematic analysis was used to analyze the transcribed interviews. Thematic analysis is a flexible research tool used for "identifying, analysing and reporting" themes within qualitative data. (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

van Manen (2016) provides three approaches to isolating thematic statements when analyzing the transcribed data: "1. the wholistic or sententious approach; 2. the selective or highlighting approach; 3. the detailed or line-by-line approach" (p. 93). The wholistic or sententious approach included attempting to capture the concise meaning or main understanding of the text as a whole. The selective or highlighting approach involved reading a text multiple times in an attempt to highlight the statements or phrases that appear essential to describing the phenomenon of interest. Finally, the detailed or line-by-line approach required the researcher to examine every sentence of the text and attempt to isolate what each sentence revealed about the phenomenon (van Manen, 2016).

Braun and Clarke (2006) provide six steps to analyzing data using thematic analysis. The first step required the researcher to familiarize herself with the data collected. To familiarize herself with the data, the researcher collected the data herself (through face-to-face semi-structured interviews), listened and re-listened to the recorded interviews to transcribe them, verbatim, as well as by reading and re-reading the transcribed interviews. Once familiarized with the data, the researcher generated the

initial codes. After the initial coding, codes were sorted into potential themes and subthemes. The fourth step involved reviewing and collating the potential themes and subthemes. This step involved eliminating some themes which did not have enough data to
support them, combining themes that may have initially appeared separate into coherent
themes and isolating separate themes. Themes and sub-themes were then reviewed in
relation to the entire data set to determine if they accurately reflected the meaning of the
data as a whole. A thematic map was developed. Once a satisfactory thematic map was
developed, the fifth step involved defining and naming the themes. Once the essence of
each theme and sub-theme was accurately identified and named, the final report of the
analysis was produced (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

The researcher collaborated and partnered with her supervisor and committee to ensure an accurate interpretation of the data. The researcher sent out two un-coded transcripts to committee members that they analyzed independently. Once completed, the researcher held a meeting with the committee and presented her analyses of the transcript followed by a discussion with members to find agreement on coding/themes.

Trustworthiness

Common criteria used to evaluate trustworthiness in qualitative research are credibility, dependability, and transferability (Ryan et al., 2007). To ensure credibility, the researcher used reflexive comments or notes immediately after interviewing participants, to ensure that biases and values were made known. The researcher returned to participants, who consented, with emerging themes during the interpretive analysis of the data, to ensure an accurate depiction of the participants' view of the phenomenon, known as *member checking*. *Member checking* is used to "validate, verify, or assess the

trustworthiness of qualitative results," (Birt et al., 2016). Dependability was established by clearly documenting, and recording, the design and decision-making process of the study, including the methods used. Transferability was established by providing rich detail and a deeper understanding of the lived experience of individuals who had contacted, attempted to access, accessed, or not accessed formal health-related supports/services post sexualized violence, which can in turn influence similar populations in similar settings (Ryan et al., 2007).

Ethics

Prior to beginning this study, permission was obtained from the Dalhousie Health Research Ethics Board, to perform the intended study. Informed consent was required from all participants. Informed consent included: the purpose of the study, as well as the risk and the benefits to participating in the study. Participants were given the option to withdraw from the study during any point of the recruitment and interview process and could remove their data up to one week following their interview. There were no direct benefits to participating in this study; however, participants contributed critical information to enhancing existing knowledge of this phenomenon. Participants may have benefitted from the chance to reflect on their experiences. There were no physical risks to participating in this study. Due to the sensitive and traumatic nature of the topic of inquiry, participants could have experienced some mental and emotional distress by sharing their experiences. Therefore, participants were reassured that they were able to stop the interview at any time and/or pause for breaks. The researcher also provided a list of mental health resources for participants. There has been research to suggest the therapeutic benefits of sharing traumatic experiences. If given a respectful and caring

environment, researchers can contribute to a survivor's healing journey by providing survivors with an opportunity to discuss their experiences (Snyder, 2016). The data collected has been reported accurately and honestly and without manipulation.

Chapter 3: Findings

In the following section a description of the participants has been provided and the five themes which emerged from the data were summarized.

The Participants

A total of 10 individuals participated in this study. Participants ranged in age from 19-60 years ($\bar{x} = 31$). Eight of the ten participants self-identified as women, two participants did not specify gender identity. Participants varied in a number of other demographics: their level of education (high school to post-secondary, the majority of participants had achieved post-secondary education); how soon after their experience of sexualized violence they attempted to, or accessed, services and support (five participants initially accessed services and support days following, five participants sought services and support for the first time years later); and the types of services (physical and mental health services, criminal justice system, university administrative justice) and supports (family, friends, or formal supports - for example, community organization) they accessed. As the interviews for data collection were conducted using a trauma informed approach, participants were not asked to describe or to provide any specific details about their experience of sexualized violence. Participants were free to share as much, or as little, of their experience with which they were comfortable. From the information provided, it was apparent that each participant's experience with sexualized violence was distinctly unique, and thus difficult to reduce into categories. Some notable variances in participants' experiences of sexualized violence included: whether perpetrators were unknown, or known, to the survivor (including intimate partner violence); and whether it was historic, or recent, trauma.

Within the past five years, all participants had accessed, or attempted to access, supports and services (in some cases, multiple services), within Halifax Regional Municipality (HRM), regarding an experience of sexualized violence. All the participants had experienced violence perpetrated by men. The formal services accessed by participants varied. Four of the ten participants accessed/attempted to access the police and other services within the criminal justice system. Two participants accessed services in the administrative justice system within their university. Five participants sought medical care through either Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners (SANE), physicians or physiotherapists. Nine of the participants sought mental health care and counselling through university, private or public sectors (including Avalon Sexual Assault Centre) and one participant used a shelter. All participants described using, or attempting to use, family and friends for support. One of the ten participants accessed an informal cultural support group, while another participant described using yoga and meditation as informal support, and another participant used online forums (Facebook Groups) as informal mental health support. Five of the ten participants voiced having had more than one experience of sexualized violence within their lives.

Two participants who volunteered for the study were known to the researcher through the Halifax community; therefore, guidance was sought through the Dalhousie Research Ethics board and permission to include the participants in the study was granted. To ensure the participant's comfort during the interview process and in participating in the research, the participants were provided the option to be interviewed by the researcher, or a classmate, Clare Heggie, who conducted similar qualitative research exploring the experience of women who sought supports and services for

sexualized violence in rural communities within Nova Scotia. One participant consented to be interviewed by Clare, while the other consented to be interviewed by the researcher. The same process of data collection and obtaining informed consent was followed for all participants, and Clare adhered to a confidentiality agreement.

Themes

In the following sections the five themes reflecting the experience of survivors using and/or attempting to use, support and services for an experience of sexualized violence has been described. Through these five themes, 14 subthemes emerged.

Themes and Sub-themes

Recognizing Sexualized Violence

- Questioning Whether They Were Deserving of Support
- Mental Health Crisis
- Disclosure to Family and Friends

Re-traumatizing Services

- Neglect of Survivor's Needs
- "Culture Blind"
- Barriers to Access

Supportive Service Experience

- Trauma-Informed Healing
- Social Support

Ripple Effects

- Post-traumatic Growth
- Ongoing Effects of Trauma

Gaps in Services and Education

- Available Services
- *Appropriate Training*
- Sexual Health Education
- Justice Reform

Recognizing Sexualized Violence

The theme *Recognizing Sexualized Violence* refers to the arduous process that the participants went through to acknowledge their experiences, and resulting trauma, as sexualized violence. This acknowledgement preceded the participants' decision to seek support from services for sexualized violence. Participants described struggling with their own shame, guilt and fear surrounding the experience of sexualized violence. Participants also described having limited knowledge and awareness about sexualized violence, and confusion regarding if what they had experienced was in fact, assault. This absence of awareness was often noted as a contributing factor as to why the participants did not immediately seek services related to sexualized violence. Each participant's recognition of their assault happened at different points in their healing journey. Participants noted a number of factors which contributed to their ability to recognize that their experience was sexualized violence. As a result, within this theme the following three sub-themes emerged: *Questioning Whether They Were Deserving of Support, Mental Health Crisis*, and *Disclosure to Family and Friends*.

Questioning Whether They Were Deserving of Support

Eight of the ten participants voiced feeling confused or questioned whether they were deserving of support from formal services. They noted feelings of fear, shame, self-doubt and a lack of awareness or knowledge related to sexualized violence in general. This lack of knowledge further contributed to the confusion about whether participants' experience of sexualized violence "fit" their perception of the criteria "needed" to access support from formal services for sexualized violence. For these individuals, their perception of whether they were deserving of support influenced *how* and *when* they

would seek services for their experience of sexualized violence. These complex feelings often influenced the trajectory of the participant's healing journey, and the services and support that they decided to use, or not use.

So, even when it happened, I was like, well, I wasn't "raped" and that was kind of like the only thing that I thought was sexual assault, was only rape, but like you know, it was everything up until that. So, I thought, well that's not what sexual assault is, sexual assault is rape... and it's usually by a stranger. Like how could it be someone I know? Someone who I thought was my friend. So, then I just assumed for a long time I was like, well that's just my fault... I didn't do anything when it happened, cause I didn't know what to do and I didn't even know it was sexual assault, really. So, I just kind of blamed myself for it happening, which I know everybody does, but I think because I didn't even recognize that it was sexual assault, I didn't even think about using services. (Participant 3)

These feelings of guilt, confusion and self-doubt often persisted for participants even as they accessed supports and services for sexualized violence.

I would always say to her [mental health therapist], 'I feel like I'm pretty good with my situation,' I was always pretty composed, or whatever. I had those feelings of being like 'I shouldn't even be here; I'm taking up someone else's space that could be way worse than me.' (Participant 8)

Mental Health Crisis

The subtheme mental health crisis refers to the notable deterioration in mental health that each participant experienced as a result of their trauma from sexualized violence. This "dysregulation" (as one participant referred to it) and crises ultimately pushed participants to seek services to address their trauma related to sexualized violence, in order to care for their mental health. Each participant varied in the timing of this deterioration in their mental health. Some participants suffered it immediately following their experience of sexualized violence. Other participants suffered the deterioration of their mental health after some time had passed from their assault which allowed them to recognize and acknowledge their trauma. Still other participants

attempted to deal with the trauma on their own which led to a deterioration in their mental health, and eventually pushed them to seek support and services for sexualized violence.

I think, at the time, I just really needed support and kind of getting through the day-to-day stuff. I was feeling just so dysregulated and having to see this person [assailant] every week was so overwhelming that it was really helpful to have someone who I could talk to about that... and also kind of talk to... about what had happened because it wasn't something... like I had never accessed counselling services before that point. (Participant 2)

I tell you, I never contemplated committing suicide, but it was just like, I was a wreck, you know, I was using alcohol and weed, ... but I was using substance to just stay, you know, stay. (Participant 4)

One participant experienced a severe mental health crisis due to a lack of mental health support for their mental health in general, and trauma related to their experience of sexualized violence. As a result, this participant disclosed that they had attempted suicide.

It was actually after a suicide attempt, when I got in contact with my therapist. (Participant 10)

Participants' mental health journey post sexualized violence did not appear linear.

Participants voiced fluctuations in their mental health over a number of years. They also voiced experiencing ongoing mental health crisis and emotional dysregulation while accessing services for sexualized violence and working through their trauma.

Yeah, at that time, it felt like pretty crisis... like I was really not doing well and felt like very unstable... and so she could tell obviously, as my psychologist... and so I kind of stopped making appointments, or cancelled appointments, and she ended up calling me and, just like, said 'What's up? You need to be here, why aren't you coming?' (Participant 9)

Disclosure to Family and Friends

The final subtheme, *Disclosure to Family and Friends*, described by all participants, reflects disclosing their experience of sexualized violence to family and/or friends who then played a critical role in validating their experience and ultimately influencing their decision to seek formal services for sexualized violence. Two of the ten participants attributed disclosing to family and friends and the resulting discussion as a catalyst for them to recognize and acknowledge that their experience was, in fact, sexualized violence. Discussing their experience with family and/or friends allowed the participants the opportunity for their feelings and experience to be *validated*, and also to *reframe* their perspective on the experience.

So, I think it took me a really long time and it wasn't until I started talking to people or would let something slip about what happened and someone would be like 'wait, what?'... that I really started to kind of understand that this [experience of sexualized violence] wasn't normal. (Participant 2)

Five of the ten participants were encouraged to seek out support from formal services for sexualized violence by their family and friends following disclosure. These participants identified this encouragement as a factor contributing to their decision to access support for sexualized violence.

So, I told him [husband] what happened, and he goes 'let's go there I want to see him, I want to go see him right now.' I'm like 'no, cause you're going to do something.' He said 'let me just figure out what to do.' ...He said 'well let's go to the police,' I said 'no, I can't go'... and then my husband would ask me every few months, 'you ready to go yet?', 'No, I'm not ready to go yet,' 'Okay.' Every few months he would say, 'Do you want to go?' 'Nope.' I knew exactly what he was saying, he would just say 'you want to go?' ...Then finally one day I just woke up and I said, 'you know what, let's do it, let's go.' (Participant 5)

I actually called my boyfriend at the time, and he was so freaked out because he lived up here in, [town], and yeah, he said, 'you should call the police' and he said 'I'll do what I can and I'll come down' ...and anyway, I reported it... (Participant 10)

Three of the ten participants voiced some fear of burdening their friends and family with their experience of sexualized violence and resulting trauma. They then used this fear as motivation to seek formal services and supports for sexualized violence to alleviate some of this perceived burden from their social supports.

I think also it wasn't easy on my friends at that point... I was really struggling, and so having someone else that I could go to for support, that was like professional support, was helpful because then I didn't feel like... like, I felt like that would have taken pressure off of them [friends]... and also, I didn't feel like I was going to them all the time with this. (Participant 2)

Re-traumatizing Services

The theme *Re-traumatizing Services* describes the experience of participants who accessed support from services that were ill-equipped to care for survivors of sexualized violence. All participants described negative aspects of their experience using, or attempting to use, services regarding their experience of sexualized violence. Sexualized violence is undoubtedly a violating and traumatic experience, leaving survivors confused and vulnerable. Deciding to disclose, or report, their victimization to another individual required immense courage and emotional labour (Benoit et al., 2015). Participants voiced receiving insensitive treatment from formal services or supports which negatively affected their healing and influenced whether they would continue to seek formal support in the future. Within the theme *Re-traumatizing*, three sub themes emerged: *Neglect of Survivor's Needs*, "Culture Blind", and Barriers to Access.

Neglect of Survivor's Needs

Nine of the ten participants described receiving treatment that reflected a level of service provider inexperience, lack of education, and/or attitudes and beliefs about sexualized violence that were insensitive and not trauma informed. Participants described

feeling violated and shamed for their experience of sexualized violence by service providers, which deepened their existing self-doubt and confusion regarding their trauma.

Participants reported that service providers who lacked appropriate training and awareness in sexualized violence, trauma or trauma-informed care often engaged in victim blaming behaviour. They badgered participants with inappropriate questions and sought gratuitous details about their experience of sexualized violence, which served to further re-traumatize participants.

Her [therapist] responses to everything were really strong... She would kind of make comments like 'that's disgusting' or like 'can't believe he did that,' or stuff like that... And like, she would ask things in such a way that it just felt like she was judging me for what had happened... Like, I would have been 22 when I saw her but 17 when most of the assault took place... and like, she would be like 'but when he was doing that did you say no the whole time? Did you say no the whole time he was doing this?' To be honest, I really don't remember, but it felt really, yeah, just the way that she did that, I felt really violated by the questions that she was asking me, and I didn't feel like I had a choice as to whether or not I talked about certain things or not. (Participant 2)

Yeah, so just again, it's kind of an attitude I think... and it's not that I'm looking for someone who I can hug and whatever, it's a therapist... I understand it's professional, but there is definite things that kind of piss me off... Like, there's a whole technicality for childhood sexual abuse, the person has to be at least four years older than you and like blah, blah, blah, ... and it didn't fully coincide with that... So, she was like, 'technically it wasn't childhood sexual abuse.' ... and I'm like 'well, technically then what the fuck was it?' ... That's not helpful, why would you say that? Just shit like that... that's like invalidating, unhelpful, not relevant... like I understand that you kind of want me to look at it differently and say, not like, get stuck in the past. But let's call it what it is, like you know... that's not what the issue is. (Participant 6)

Yeah, and like they [police] were questioning my character... anyway, my boyfriend at the time, they kept questioning if I wanted to 'try somebody new' and stuff... They kept trying to pin it on me, which was disgusting. I kept telling them 'no, no, no.'... Yeah, but that was their attitude, they just did not believe me. (Participant 10)

"Culture Blind"

The subtheme, "Culture Blind," acknowledges the experience of the Indigenous and Black participants in this study, who noted a lack of cultural diversity in service providers as well as a lack of knowledge in diverse populations and their healing practices. These participants described receiving Euro-centric care that ignored their spiritual needs and healing. The implications of sexualized violence, in the context of different cultures, directly affects the trauma a survivor experiences, and how they may access support for sexualized violence and future needs (Benoit et al., 2015). Ignoring this aspect of a survivor's identity can contribute to their re-traumatization, as it can invalidate their experience, and the complexity of intergenerational trauma (Bletzer & Koss, 2006).

I wouldn't say they were like culturally insensitive, maybe culture blind? I think being native has such a significant place if you're a woman experiencing violence, given all those impacts. Like when you do it's not just you, you remember your mom and your sister and all of that, so that's different for us. And sort of getting that, would be helpful. Yeah, I wouldn't say culturally insensitive, nobody blamed my violence on me being native, that didn't happen, but culture blind. (Participant 1)

The concept of "culture blind" was further observed by the Indigenous participants within the infrastructure and environment of where services and supports were offered in particular, hospital and clinical settings. Participants voiced that these spaces lacked the infrastructure to accommodate cultural healing practices, further stigmatizing individuals of different cultures.

Or I find a lot of comfort in culturally relevant things, but there wasn't a native nurse, which like, those services are hard, and I get recruitment is hard and all of that, but like, I think that was sort of difficult for me when I was accessing that... It's always helpful when you see someone who can kind of contextualize, or like, understand how you're kind of experiencing it. So, like, yeah, I guess I didn't really have that. Or in the hospital there's no place to smudge in the ER. Which

makes sense because of scents, but that's kind of really important to me, and I wanted to, but there wasn't the space for that, so I didn't. Yeah, that was kind of hard, I guess. (Participant 1)

So, another pro with having someone who understands the culture... and that could also be a con too... because there's a lot of counsellors who don't know anything about our culture ... and some of the places that, like, if [family member] wanted to smudge they can't do that at the hospital. They would have to go outside and do the smudging ceremony outside the hospital, so that could be kind of a pro and con. (Participant 5)

Barriers to Access

The third subtheme, *Barriers to Access*, reflects the experience shared by all participants of systemic, structural, and organizational barriers that limited the accessibility of supports and services for survivors of sexualized violence. All survivors acknowledged that once they had recognized their victimization as sexualized violence, there was the challenging task of seeking assistance for that experience, whether it was immediately following the assault, or years later.

A barrier that all participants described was the lack of availability, high cost and a long wait time to access existing support and services for both sexualized violence, and general mental health services. Participants described the emotional toll and vulnerability that it took to acknowledge needing, and actively seeking out, support for sexualized violence only to face limited availability of services, and long wait times for the services that were available. Participants noted the cyclical nature of long wait times as barriers that discouraged them from actively attempting to seek assistance from these services, which negatively affected their ability to work through their trauma.

So, for me, it was always that, you know, you've got to wait a month or two months, and by the time it happens you've either swallowed it, you know... or you've decided this is too much, I can't go public with this. So, it's really a thing about time and not having enough resources out there. (Participant 4)

So, I didn't find that there was a place that was accessible... the second that it was in my mind, I didn't find there was a place that I could go to right away... because all the mental health system resources, and stuff like that, it's like, if it's for sexual assault, if it wasn't something that happened right away, that happened that you were actively experiencing fresh trauma from... then I felt like they wouldn't take me as seriously. At the same time, you know, if I wanted to just go to a normal mental health practitioner then I would have to wait three to six months... and then, by then, maybe I would have forced myself to forget about it, or whatever, again. (Participant 7)

Further barriers to access identified by five of the ten participants included a lack of privacy, as well as a stigmatizing infrastructure and environment in which services and supports for sexualized violence were offered, which included hospital and clinic settings.

Somewhere that's a little more private, I guess, initially, I think would be more helpful. You're so on edge already, the lights are harsh, it's always busy, that's really overwhelming... Or I found it to be really overwhelming, when I was already really overwhelmed... I think if I was aware of an alternative option, or like alternative space, or something, I probably would have tried to access that instead. (Participant 1)

I didn't really like the way even the waiting room was set up, it just felt very strange because they ...they kind of have two separate areas so that it's all one waiting room for all of the health services that are accessed there but depending on who you're seeing you sit on one side of the room or the other. But what it winds up being is that all of the people who are accessing mental health services sit on one side of the room and then the people who are accessing physical health services sit on the other, and there might be a little bit of cross over but that's very much kind of the breakdown. So, it just felt very public... (Participant 2)

Supportive Service Experience

The theme, *Supportive Service Experience*, reflects the supports, services, providers and their environment in which participants found support and healing. These experiences described services and providers who were compassionate, caring, knowledgeable and trauma-informed, which contributed to the healing and wellness of the participants. Participants also described services which were provided in welcoming

and relaxed environments with comfortable waiting areas, which helped to ease their anxiety when accessing these services and supports. Within the theme *Supportive Service Experience*, the following two sub themes emerged: *Trauma-Informed Healing* and *Social Support*.

Trauma-Informed Healing

The sub theme *Trauma-Informed Healing* refers to the experiences that each participant had with a service provider who they found to be supportive and aided them with their trauma. All participants described at least one experience of an interaction with a service provider who proved to be caring, validating, and forward thinking in their approach to service provision. These service providers had enough knowledge and empathy to provide trauma-informed care to survivors of sexualized violence and helped them to understand their experience and begin to process the resulting trauma. Furthermore, participants benefited from service providers who assisted them to engage in tangible coping methods to help them build resilience and skills to mitigate the trauma they had experienced. Seven of the ten participants who used private mental health therapists, noted these interactions to be the most positive, supportive, and healing interactions. These mental health practitioners were well equipped to care for survivors of sexualized violence by understanding, reassuring, and assisting them to gain meaning from their experiences of sexualized violence. Participants noted that the greatest impact on their healing involved the work done with their mental health counsellor. For all participants, supportive interactions with any service provider involved them acknowledging and validating the participant's experience of sexualized violence. Participants voiced the importance of having a positive relationship, or connection, with

their mental health service provider. They also noted valuing service providers who *listened* to the needs of the participant, were *client directed* with their care, and *acted as advocates* for survivors of sexualized violence. These service providers openly recognized to the participant any limitations to their knowledge and scope of practice and referred participants to appropriate additional services when necessary. These values align with principles of trauma-informed care, which aim to reduce the possibility of retraumatization (Elliott et al., 2005). One participant, who was Indigenous, noted the importance of incorporating culturally relevant healing practices and having a mental health practitioner who was Indigenous, as it provided a level of context and understanding that was not always acknowledged in similar services.

Just her [family physician] being there, just her being there, you know, she was there, it wasn't like she brushed me off, or anything. She was very there and very aware. (Participant 4)

It was like extremely helpful, I don't know, maybe or maybe not lifesaving. She was great... I made a really good connection with her and felt very lucky and grateful... like the first person that I reached out to kind of privately, was a good experience... kind of after the few not great health experiences... Yeah, it was like a lot of work was done with my private psychologist. (Participant 9)

They [SANE] made me feel safe. Like, they explained everything as they were doing it, like they didn't push me... Whenever I would start to break down, they would let me have my space and come back to it after I calmed down a bit... They were really patient with me, I remember that. (Participant 10)

Participants also noted service providers who appeared to have appropriate training and knowledge to support survivors of sexualized violence. Participants acknowledged that their provision of care was appropriate, and trauma informed.

The nurse was awesome. She told me exactly what was going on, what she was going to do, what things were being used for... and I think was trying to give me a sense of control, which was, that was really helpful. Clearly, there's only so much you can do in that situation, you're still not really in control... but to have

the option to say 'no,' or 'stop,' or 'why are you doing this?' ...or whatever, like I felt comfortable doing that. (Participant 1)

I felt that whatever training she had had, had been trauma informed, and that everything that she did was very respectful... and she didn't do anything without asking... and, you know, checked my comfort level all the time... and was like 'are you okay if I do this?' ... you know, 'you can let me know if this is bothering you,' like 'we can stop at any time,' kind of thing. (Participant 3)

Participants also noted a sense of safety and comfort from the environment in which these services were offered. They described waiting areas that felt private, non-judgemental, and comfortable, which helped to ease their anxieties about seeking supports for their experience of sexualized violence. Participants felt safe and were able to engage with their service or support provider to conduct meaningful work on their healing journey.

Social Supports

The sub-theme *Social Supports* reflects the experience of all ten participants who sought support from family, friends, and/or community members (for example a community group) for an experience of sexualized violence. For the individuals in this study, their social supports were crucial in filling in the gap of care due to a lack of formal services and supports readily available, or long wait times, for survivors of sexualized violence. Support included providing informal guidance, care, and assistance to participants. Participants voiced disclosing their victimization at different periods in their healing journey, and as previously discussed, acknowledged that disclosing their victimization to family and friends acted as a catalyst that encouraged participants to seek support from formal services and supports.

Social supports which shared common understanding and lived experience of sexualized violence were identified by eight of the participants as a valuable support as

they were better able to relate to the participants. Participants also noted the devastating realization at how prevalent experiences of sexualized violence were among community members and within their social circles. The support received from social supports was notably more loving and caring than that from some formal services and supports, as social supports are more invested in the well-being of the participants.

There's a women's, or fem identified folk group at the [local cultural community centre]... like it's not necessarily for survivors of sexualized violence or intimate partner violence necessarily, ...unfortunately that's kind of the shared experience within our community. So that's kind of like a healing circle, I guess you might describe it. ...So that was helpful and continues to be... But it's always simultaneously horrific and beautiful to have a shared community of these people that have had these similar experiences so we can relate to each other. (Participant 1)

Even though, it was like really just friends, none of our experiences were the same, or even similar, but it's like 'this sucks for all of us, let's commiserate, let's talk shit, let's like get it all out.' (Participant 9)

For two of the ten participants who accessed group style counselling through their university, they greatly benefitted from the sense of community and understanding that the group provided. Group therapy settings provide survivors an opportunity to share, and validate, their experiences with individuals who can empathize, understand, and provide perspective (Coholic, et al., 2018). This shared understanding also can combat the sense of isolation that survivors of sexualized violence experience (Benoit et al., 2015).

I think it was nice, because there was never any session where everybody sat down and talked about specifically what had happened... but I think bits and pieces would come out as people would share their stories. I think it was something that, I think, going into it I partly had my reservations just cause I didn't feel like my story was going to fit and, or be something that... yeah, fit in with what everybody else was going to... what everybody else's experiences would have been. But I think that hearing, or coming to kind of understand a bit more about what other people had gone through was helpful... and just giving me some context where I was... like, everybody's story is really different and so I think it made me feel more comfortable, not with what had happened... but just

more comfortable with my story as being something that wasn't just completely like out there. (Participant 2)

Ripple Effect

The theme, *Ripple Effect*, describes the experience shared by all participants as they continue to process and learn to live with the ongoing effects of sexualized violence. The effects of sexualized violence are complex, and survivors often felt the effects in varying intensity throughout their life following their victimization. Participants acknowledged that their changed perspective influences how they engage in social interactions, navigate new and existing relationships, as well as cope with the demands of day-to-day life, as survivors of sexualized violence. Despite the tremendous hardships that these survivors had faced, they persevered and continue to seek support for their victimization. The theme, *Ripple Effect*, is divided into two subthemes: *Post Traumatic Growth* and *Ongoing Effects of Trauma*.

Post Traumatic Growth

All of the participants highlighted the actions they took for protection and self-care following a traumatic experience of sexualized violence. Participants advocated for themselves by seeking care that was most appropriate for their needs. Participants demonstrated their vulnerability by facing various experiences of re-traumatization when attempting to access support for their victimization but continued to persevere to address their needs. Participants advocated for themselves and for others, so that other survivors would not face the same re-traumatizing experience when attempting to seek help for their victimization. This provided the participants with a sense of control and allowed them to reclaim some of the power that was taken from them by their perpetrators of violence. For some participants, reclaiming power included determining and voicing

boundaries with service providers, educating themselves and others on sexualized violence and trauma, and reciprocity.

I think it was just... the main thing was that first interaction where that particular counsellor really felt like the way to move forward was by me reporting what had happened... and I really didn't feel like that was something that I wanted to even kind of have on the table. But that was something I told the second counsellor, I was like 'I don't want to talk about this,' and she was like 'great we won't,' and we never brought it up again. (Participant 2)

In supporting other survivors, participants found meaning and purpose in their trauma, and worked to improve care for survivors, and the culture surrounding sexualized violence. Almost all of the participants voiced some desire to raise awareness and improve services and support for survivors of sexualized violence as a reason for participating in this study.

You get a little bit of comfort knowing that you're not the only person that this has happened to... not comfort that it's happening to everyone... obviously that makes me angry and most other women angry... but that, you know, we've sort of all had this thing happen together and that almost makes me more motivated to do something about it. Knowing that it's so common and that it's become so normalized that it's pushed me to work in the area and be like 'why is this happening?' (Participant 3)

Ongoing Effects of Trauma

An experience of sexualized violence profoundly affects survivors' mental health and can make them feel isolated in their trauma. All participants voiced continuing to experience the effects of sexualized violence throughout their lives following the assault. All participants also voiced experiencing some judgement from service providers, or from within themselves regarding being unable to "move on" from the assault, as if it were an illness from which one could recover. All participants acknowledged that despite the services and supports that they may have accessed for an experience of sexualized violence; their healing journey did not end with those supports. Participants noted that

dealing with the resulting trauma is an ongoing journey, and something that they must work through for the rest of their lives. The effects of sexualized violence influenced how survivors accessed other healthcare services, navigated relationships with others as well as themselves, and their sense of security - both physical and emotional. Participants acknowledged that healing from trauma is a process and there are no set steps that an individual must follow; indeed, the process is different for every individual, and some may find healing in support while others may not.

So, it was 'why are you coming in after so many years?' You know, 'this is already over and done with.' No, it's not over and done with. It's just beginning for me, it's part of my life story now, you know. (Participant 5)

Yeah, there's no starting point, like you don't walk through a door being like okay, 'healing now please.' It's just constantly like no matter what you do, whether you're going in to get examined or you're going through the justice system, or you're going to therapy, or you're acknowledging that you were assaulted, it's still just forever ongoing. I guess that's acceptance over time of like how I think that's why I don't think the justice system per se gave me what I needed. It's been what I have done with it since, in that big way. (Participant 8)

Participants also acknowledged how overwhelming and mentally and physically draining seeking support through formal and informal services can be for survivors for an experience of sexualized violence. A negative experience can have a severe impact on a survivor's mental health, and ultimately on their healing journey (Elliott et al., 2005). Furthermore, seven of the ten participants who had negative experiences with service providers and services, identified feeling distrust for similar formal services, in particular the criminal justice system.

And if a friend came to me and was like I've been thinking about going to the cops, I would have to very much have to check myself out to, to tell them don't do it. To really be mindful in like, letting someone else decide for themselves because I feel so strongly about my experience with that, yeah, I would not encourage people to do that. (Participant 1)

I said, it took me seven years to walk into that police station and actually charge him, and I said, thinking that there was going to be something done about what happened. When nothing gets done, you lose hope in the system, right. You know, how do I, as a worker who works with [individuals] who've been assaulted, how do I go to them and say you need to report this, you need to get support, when there's not a whole lot of support. Like, I feel like I'm setting them up. (Participant 5)

Participants continue to face re-traumatization from media coverage of publicized cases of sexualized violence. One participant felt angry and discouraged by the lack of any consequences allotted to perpetrators of sexualized violence. This participant voiced feeling upset and having an "incomplete feeling" when perpetrators are not punished. Participants lacked a sense of closure as they did not know whether their perpetrators' actions were deemed severe enough to warrant formal legal consequences or were afraid that their experience would not be taken seriously by police, and therefore were hesitant to report their assault to the police. Six of the ten participants did not report their victimization to the police; however, four participants did.

It's just, it's not fair. It's not fair at all but also you know, it does something to the victim to see the person still, you know, going free. Like, even though I don't think I would have wanted to take a criminal route with my assault, I definitely wish that I at least had the option, you know, that... in an ideal world he would be penalized for that and it would follow him for the rest of his life just like it'll follow me for the rest of my life, you know. Just like if someone broke into your house and stole your stuff, you would want your stuff back and you would want them to be punished, but it never ever happens. So, it's like an incomplete feeling, you know... Every week there's something in the news like 'oh this one didn't go through,' you know like all those taxi assault cases here... it's just like that to me is more retraumatizing than a pap smear, you know. Watching women constantly not being believed and like nothing, no outcome... (Participant 3)

All of the participants highlighted the need for ongoing consistent support for survivors of sexualized violence, in particular, mental health services such as counselling. Participants described requiring support in varying degrees throughout the years following their victimization. In most cases, expensive private counselling fees, limited

availability of public services and long and unpredictable wait times for mental health services prevented participants from receiving vital care.

Gaps in Services and Education

Through sharing their lived experience of attempting to access and accessing supports and services for sexualized violence, participants identified a number of gaps within existing available services. Gaps included systemic and organizational policies and principles which restrict, or limit access to services and support for sexualized violence, and mental health services in general. Gaps in services also included the lack of education and awareness surrounding sexualized violence and trauma for service providers as well as the public in general. The following sub themes emerged: *Available Services, Appropriate Training, Sexual Health Education* and *Justice Reform*.

Available Services

All of the participants voiced experiencing some difficulty accessing formal services and supports for sexualized violence due to the lack of sufficient numbers of available services. Participants noted that public supports and services for mental health needs were limited in the number of appointments offered to survivors. Participants acknowledged the need for long term mental health services to truly address the complexities of trauma resulting from sexualized violence, and the ongoing effects that remain with survivors years later.

Cause one of my complaints was, when they first started to limit you to three sessions, I said 'how is a person supposed to get healing or get help only through three sessions?' ... You just start, really exploring, you know, the trauma for the first three sessions... and then you slowly start, you know, opening up and seeing how you can branch out and how... you just start healing, doing a lot more indepth therapy long term. (Participant 5)

Participants also noted disappointment in the lack of types of services and supports for sexualized violence. Seven of the ten participants noted that mental health support with group therapy options were something they truly desired but were unable to qualify for, or readily access.

So, yeah, most of my help outside of that short bit of counselling, has been from Facebook, from a group of random strangers. I've actually even been thinking of doing, like starting like a peer support group at the library... and like, reaching out to like nurses or health professionals to have at least one or two on site... and have, like you know, AA style... everybody sits in a circle, everybody talks in, like, group therapy. That's basically like... it's almost like cognitive behavioural therapy... like get, everybody talking about things, relating experiences, realizing that no, this is not normal... but you're not alone in it. (Participant 7)

I think, I don't know if this counts... I really... what I really wanted, and contacted [service] several times over the last 3/4/5 years, is their group therapy. However, it's not accessible if you're not a one-on-one therapy client with [service], and I wasn't willing to go back to [service] after my shitty experience. So, yeah, I didn't feel like that was accessible... even though that is really what I craved the most was a group therapy. I don't know, and I asked my private therapist if she knew of anything, and there really wasn't anything happening in the province. (Participant 9)

Participants identified a common thread among the gaps in services and support for sexualized violence; the need for additional funding. Participants proposed that the increased wait times, lack of available specific types of service, as well as limited availability of existing services and supports were all related to a lack of funding for general mental health supports and specialized services for sexualized violence.

Better funding, I mean if they're still going... I think it's a lot to ask for mental health services to be free, I think we're a long way away from that... but you know bolstered funding for community services, [local services], any support for sexual and domestic violence... the prevalence is so, so high and folks are not always able to afford privatized services. I know [specialized public service for sexualized violence] has a huge waitlist and they're not taking new clients... they need so much money... they do really great work, so while I didn't use them personally, I know folks who have tried to use them, and they can't because they're so underfunded. (Participant 3)

Appropriate Training

All participants noted that even when supports and services for sexualized violence were available, the care provided was not necessarily sensitive nor trauma-informed, often retraumatizing survivors of sexualized violence. Participants advocated for providers to obtain additional training in trauma, sexualized violence and caring for diverse populations and cultures. This training is crucial for service providers within healthcare and justice systems; not only for those working in specialized services for sexualized violence, but for all staff and service providers within these systems.

So yeah, I think definitely there's a piece there where it's like, the SANE nurse is awesome and compassionate and gets it, but everyone needs to be awesome and compassionate and getting it. (Participant 1)

I shouldn't have to go there and make them believe me... it should be a pre-thing, like you go in, they believe you, they get it, and you start working on it. (Participant 6)

Participants also noted the critical need for service providers who are ready, and able, to meet the needs of survivors from diverse populations and cultures. Two participants who were Indigenous noted that having a service provider who is also Indigenous would increase their comfort and the probability of them seeking and using support and services for sexualized violence.

So, yes, so I didn't go to [service], I thought that [service]... and this is just my own biases... I guess, where I wanted someone who understood the Indigenous ways... I wanted to go to someone who I know would understand that... because I find that there's not a lot of organizations that do support Indigenous people... they may say they do, but when they don't really know our community. So, I guess, especially with my role, I would end up probably educating them more, than they would be supporting me. So, yeah, I didn't want that, I wanted to be able to just get the support. (Participant 5)

One participant described initially seeking assistance from a healthcare provider who ultimately lacked knowledge in sexualized violence and provided them with

misinformation which delayed their access to appropriate healthcare. Due to this gap in knowledge, the participant developed serious physical health concerns related to the assault. The participant acknowledged that had this healthcare provider had appropriate training regarding sexualized violence, further distress and trauma could have been avoided.

Sexual Health Education

Nine of the ten participants identified that more education and awareness in general were needed surrounding sexualized violence and trauma itself. Participants recognized that the lack of education regarding sexual health in grade school, as well as in post-secondary education, put themselves, and others, at risk for victimization. Participants strongly noted that, had there been more sexual health education and opportunities to discuss sexualized violence throughout the education system, they may have been able to identify their victimization as sexualized violence more easily.

So, I think that having that education for young people is really important, because if you don't know what it looks like... or if your perception of it is that sexual assault is just rape... and rape is just penile-vaginal sex... then you're missing so, so, so much. (Participant 2)

You know, I think people think if you just don't talk about it, it's not going to happen... but by not talking about it you're just leaving mostly, ...well, often women and girls... vulnerable to violence... and then they don't know what to do about it. (Participant 3)

I feel like if that's there [general sexual health education] then it will drive into other places... if it's there, if it's permeating, it will rise up into the counselling... and into when people make decisions if they have that base. (Participant 6)

Participants also noted that education and awareness of available services is necessary not only for survivors, but also for support and service providers who may encounter survivors looking for guidance following an experience of sexualized violence.

Justice Reform

Seven of the ten participants identified the need for changes to the criminal and university administrative justice systems for instances of sexualized violence. They also noted their own hesitancy and experiences of re-traumatization when accessing services within these systems. Participants who accessed the police immediately following an experience of sexualized violence recalled being badgered by questions, feeling judged and shamed for their actions and not being believed. One participant reported their assault years after their experience of sexualized violence and had their report mislabelled resulting in no investigation into the assault.

I think that the nurse was so compassionate that I was like, oh they [police] will be too. ...I'm not sure if they were as abrasive as a normal cop would be, there was probably some degree of sensitivity, but I would never do that [report to police] again. It was awful. (Participant 1)

I was there until 2 AM. So, it was like eight hours of questioning... The first police officer, she was really sweet, and she was the one who took me to the hospital... but the other four officers I saw were just really rude to me... and they didn't seem like they believed me... Yeah, I was in hysterics by the time I left. (Participant 10)

The university administrative justice system refers to the policy that universities have in order to field disclosures and reports of sexualized violence on campus, or off campus involving university-related programs, operations or activities, involving students, faculty and/or staff. Complainants can disclose or report their victimization to trained advisors working in the department designated with the administration of the policy. When complainants disclose their victimization, advisors work with the complainant to identify needs and inform of available services. To make a report, complainants work with advisors to prepare a written statement and the advisor will determine whether the report will be addressed through an investigative or non-

investigative stream using criteria defined by the policy makers and university. A report to the university does not automatically include a report to the police, complainants can also report their victimization to the police. Non-investigative stream involves no investigation into the claims of the complainant. The advisor consults with all parties to identify desired outcomes, which are often remedial, educational, and or restorative. The investigative stream involves providing the respondent (perpetrator) with the opportunity to respond to the complainant in writing and an investigation occurs, all parties and witnesses are interviewed, and a confidential report is submitted with the findings and whether the investigator has determined if the respondent has committed acts of sexualized violence against the complainant. Outcomes of the investigative stream include remedial, educational, restorative, or a referral to a disciplinary committee. Both complainant and respondent engage with the policy and are both provided support and resources.

One participant who reported their victimization to the police, went through the court process and ultimately their assailant was charged with assault, believed that their experience with the police and criminal justice system was unique. The participant acknowledged that the result of their experience was ultimately positive but would not recommend for other survivors to pursue support through the criminal justice system. This participant also noted that there was little privacy during the trial itself, the participant voiced feeling vulnerable and described an overwhelming "release" of emotion following their testimony and crying, in a crowded general waiting area.

It's interesting because I'm not an advocate for people to go into the justice system. It's a little bit of both for me... because I would never say that it's an easy process or that it should be done. Just because I had a good experience and it worked out in the end for me, I would never push someone and be like 'you got to

do it, you got to go,' ...like it was difficult, and it was actually a rare case... and I know I'm privileged in that sense because I'm like presenting as you know, a pretty little white girl... So, it's like I'm from a middle-class family, I understand that there's elements of it that I feel... like, that I recognize that I got lucky, basically. Going through the system and being in that percentage that is a case that got proven guilty is so rare. (Participant 8)

Participants also noted that support for survivors who have reported their victimization to the police was limited and felt there was little concern for their wellbeing or mental health. Resources were offered initially upon reporting their victimization, but there was little attention paid to the need for ongoing support throughout the onerous process of the criminal justice system.

Another participant sought justice through an administrative justice process in their university but found that they had to advocate for their needs to be acknowledged and push for consequences for the assailant. The participant recalled feeling frustrated with the academic process and believed that the service providers did not prioritize the needs of the survivor, but those of the assailant.

It shouldn't be that you report it, and then have to fight for it to be heard. The system should be there to hear you and fight for you... you know, it shouldn't be... I'm already trying to do all this other stuff; I shouldn't have to fight to get stuff done too. (Participant 6)

Conclusion

Each participant's experience navigating and seeking supports and services for sexualized violence within Halifax Regional Municipality was unique. Participants accessed a number of different formal and informal services in healthcare and justice systems, as well as through social supports. The participants shared common challenges when attempting to access these services and supports. Participants faced confusion and a lack of knowledge regarding what constituted sexualized violence itself, what services to look for, and actually finding available services. Participants also found that there were limited knowledgeable, safe, and readily available options for care. In addition, they voiced facing long wait times, limited scheduling availability and unsustainable fees for private services. Participants also expressed being re-traumatized when accessing support from services and providers who were not trauma-informed and who engaged in victim blaming and judgemental behaviour upon interaction. However, all participants voiced having at least one positive experience with a service provider who was sensitive, trauma-informed and understanding. Overwhelmingly, participants expressed wanting accessible, long-term, holistic mental health supports that were inexpensive, physically accessible, welcoming with a culturally inclusive environment, and involved knowledgeable, trauma-informed staff. Participants also shared a number of suggestions to improve current services including increasing funding, additional training for service providers in trauma and sexualized violence, as well as bolstering and improving the current sexual health education curriculum in grade schools as well as post-secondary education.

Member Checking

Member Checking was a process used in this study during the analysis of data to validate, verify, and/or assess the trustworthiness of the results (Birt et al., 2016). All of the participants consented to the member checking process during data collection, upon reviewing the consent for the study. Participants were contacted by email and provided a brief description of the themes and sub-themes to review, to ensure that their story was reflected within the findings. Three of the ten participants responded and affirmed that their story had been represented within the findings. Due to the sensitive nature of the topic of study the researcher used a trauma informed approach throughout data collection and the informed consent process. Participants were reminded at the time of the interview, and when contacted again by email for the member checking process, that this process was completely voluntary, and they could withdraw from this process at any time or choose to not respond to the email. The member checking process did not occur until one year after the interviews were conducted due to delays related to the COVID-19 pandemic. As discussed throughout this chapter, the emotional and psychological effects of sexualized violence can be felt long after the experience of victimization. Everyone's healing journey with trauma from sexualized violence is different, and some participants may not have wanted to re-visit this experience again, through reviewing the findings of this research and engaging with the researcher.

Chapter 4: Discussion

The purpose of this study was to gain a deeper understanding of the lived experience of individuals who have attempted to access, accessed, or not accessed supports and services for sexualized violence. This study aimed to answer the following research questions: (a)What was the lived experience of individuals who have contacted, attempted to access, accessed, or not accessed supports/services for sexualized violence, whether they were formal, informal, health-related or not? (b)What formal health-related supports/services did survivors of sexualized violence contact, attempt to access, access, or did not access post sexualized violence, and why? (c) What other supports/services, that may not have been formal or health-related, did survivors of sexualized violence contact, attempt to access, access, or did not access post sexualized violence, and why? (d) What factors influenced a survivor's decision to access or not access health-related supports/services? (e) What recommendations did survivors have regarding how health-related supports/services could be improved and made more accessible?

(a) What was the lived experience of individuals who have contacted, attempted to access, accessed, or not accessed supports/services for sexualized violence, whether they were formal, informal, health-related or not?

Much like a survivor's experience of sexualized violence, the experiences of participants who contacted and accessed supports and services for sexualized violence varied greatly. Some participants found healing and support while others did not. This is consistent with other research which highlights the experience of sexualized violence as unique; there is no universal experience. An individual's experience of sexualized violence is framed by the context of their day-to-day life (Bletzer & Koss, 2006).

Participants' experiences of seeking, and accessing, supports and services reflected their unique needs, perception of deservedness, and their knowledge surrounding sexualized violence itself. Although *the way* in which participants sought services varied, as well as *the types* of services and supports they attempted to access, there were some similarities in the challenges they faced when attempting to access services and supports. Participants voiced feeling shame, guilt, and self-blame, as well as confusion or a lack of knowledge regarding sexualized violence itself and fear of judgement from others. These sentiments are reflected within current literature regarding survivor's experiences seeking services for sexualized violence (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020; Sit & Stermac, 2021). These well-established findings within the literature demonstrate how society continues to perpetuate negative beliefs and stereotypes, versus acknowledging the harmful patriarchal society and gender imbalances that cultivate a culture in which sexualized violence can be blamed on the survivor (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020).

Participants in my study also struggled to identify and find appropriate services for their needs. Indeed, they found few services and supports that were knowledgeable, safe, and readily available options for care. They voiced facing long wait times, limited scheduling availability and unsustainable fees for private services. They also expressed feeling re-traumatized when accessing support from services and providers who were not trauma-informed, lacked sensitivity and understanding, and engaged in victim blaming and judgemental behaviour. Sit and Stermac (2021) also found that the women in their study struggled to find appropriate services and supports for their victimization, due to a lack of awareness and limited education of services available to them. In addition, the women in their study encountered service providers who prioritized their own interests

and neglected the needs of the survivor. These findings are also noted in a study exploring the experiences of women navigating supports and services for sexualized violence in rural Nova Scotia. Heggie (2020) noted that the women experienced retraumatization when attempting to seek support from services that were insensitive, not trauma-informed and blamed the victim for their experience. Heggie (2020) also notes that the women in the study faced challenges in actually identifying and locating services and supports, as well as long wait times for limited specialized services for sexualized violence within their community.

However, all participants in my study voiced having at least one positive experience with a support or service. They found healing through a number of different types of supports and services, such as private, public and university counselling, group therapy, Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners (SANE), informal cultural support groups, and social support from community members, friends and family. These service and support providers were sensitive, caring, trauma-informed and understanding. Similarly, Campbell (2006) found that survivors' experiences seeking legal and medical services were more positive when given access to 'rape victim advocates' who supported the survivor by providing non-judgemental support, advocating for the survivor's needs with healthcare and legal service providers, and having knowledge and experience in working with victims of sexualized violence.

(b) What formal health-related supports/services did survivors of sexualized violence contact, attempt to access, access, or did not access post sexualized violence, and why?

The participants in this study sought care from a number of physical health services, for example, Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners (SANE), family physician, walkin clinic, gynecologist, and physiotherapy. Participants noted seeking physical health services for several reasons – including, having concern for their physical wellbeing, not knowing what else to do and were seeking guidance, and to assist with chronic health issues – all of which were exacerbated by the trauma resulting from their experience of assault. All participants sought mental health care from counselling and therapy services such as private psychologists, public mental health services, university counselling services, and a local sexual assault centre. They sought these counselling and therapy services for a variety of reasons, predominantly due to mental health crisis, or declining mental health and wellness, including one participant who attempted suicide as a result of their experience of sexualized violence. Indeed, participants noted that the psychological side effects of sexualized violence persisted for years after their victimization. The concept of temporality provides further understanding into the nature of trauma from sexualized violence. Temporality emphasizes that past experiences can be felt tangibly in the present and affect day-to-day life (van Manen, 2016). The trauma resulting from sexualized violence is experienced long after victimization. These findings highlight the importance of ongoing mental health care for survivors, as research has found them to be at increased risk for developing posttraumatic stress disorder, depression, generalized anxiety disorder/anxiety disorders, substance use disorders, eating disorders, sleep disorders and suicide attempts (Pemberton and Loeb, 2020). Survivors in rural Nova Scotia also noted that long term trauma-informed mental health services are needed to care for the complex psychological effects of sexualized violence (Heggie, 2020).

(c) What other supports/services, that may not have been formal or healthrelated, did survivors of sexualized violence contact, attempt to access, access, or did not access post sexualized violence, and why?

Participants voiced using social supports such as family and/or friends as informal support. These social supports bridged a gap in care while participants sought out, or waited for, other formal supports and services. Participants also used informal supports such as a culturally specific support group at a local community centre, yoga, and online Facebook groups. These informal supports were caring and shared understanding with the participants through their own lived experience. These findings link to the literature noting that survivors often feel isolated due to their victimization; however, informal, and social supports have been found to provide a sense of understanding, while the community plays a key role in the healing process and in addressing survivor trauma (Benoit et al., 2015). These findings also coincide with the literature that highlights the importance of survivors utilizing both formal and informal supports and services throughout their healing journey (SAMHSA, 2014).

(d) What factors influenced a survivor's decision to access, or not access, healthrelated supports/services?

Participants identified a number of factors that influenced their decision to seek and access services and supports. They sought care from social supports such as family, friends, and community members due to a decline in their mental health, and in search of help to understand their victimization and why it happened. For most of their experiences, participants' social supports were caring, loving, and understanding.

Participants voiced that social supports played crucial roles in recognizing their

victimization as sexualized violence and encouraging them to seek formal services for support. Through the validation of family and friends, participants deemed their experience of sexualized violence as being real and something that was worthy of care, compassion, and support.

Participants also noted seeking formal supports and services out of concern for their physical health and wellness and being referred to additional services by trusted service providers. The majority of participants sought care from formal health-related supports and services due to a sense of crisis, declining mental health, and not knowing how to navigate their way through their situation without support. These findings indicate the importance of education for *everyone* regarding the full meaning of sexualized violence to provide survivors with context and understanding regarding their victimization, and aid in their stabilizing mental health to avoid mental health crisis situations (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020; Sit & Stermac, 2021). Furthermore, these findings also highlight the need for education regarding services and supports for sexualized violence, to assist survivors in finding appropriate and timely support (Sit & Stermac, 2021).

Social movements such as the highly publicized #MeToo movement, raise awareness regarding the prevalence of sexualized violence within society and around the world, which can contribute to a shift in the culture, and normalize sharing and discussing experiences of sexualized violence and trauma (Williamson et al., 2020). These movements provide survivors with the opportunity to share their story and build connections with others who also have experienced sexualized violence (Williamson et al., 2020). Furthermore, normalizing the discussion and sharing of experiences regarding

trauma and sexualized violence can diminish feelings of self-blame, guilt, and shame, which survivors commonly experience, and encourage survivors to seek support for their victimization from formal supports and services for sexualized violence (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020; Williamson et al., 2020)

(e) What recommendations did survivors have regarding how health-related supports/services could be improved and made more accessible?

Participants identified a number of ways to improve accessibility not only to health-related supports and services, but also non-health related supports and services. Overwhelmingly, the participants voiced that comprehensive education and training for service providers regarding trauma, trauma-informed care, and sexualized violence would greatly improve accessibility of these services for survivors. The Indigenous participants also identified the need for culturally relevant healing practises and customs to be integrated within existing services and supports for diverse populations. Marsh and colleagues (2015) performed a literature review exploring how Western treatment methods and Indigenous healing practices could be blended to help in healing intergenerational trauma and substance use disorders among Indigenous populations. The authors observed in the literature that using traditional healing methods promoted empowerment and health for Indigenous communities as it further endorsed the reclamation of Indigenous identity and traditional culture. A holistic approach to healing is a core tenet of Indigenous worldviews of health and should be incorporated into formal healthcare services (Marsh et al., 2015). Reeves and Stewart (2015) conducted a qualitative study that explored the use of traditional Indigenous healing practices and Western mental health services for individuals recovering from trauma related to

sexualized violence. The participants were traditional healers or medicine people, counsellors, and elders who were employed at Anishnawbe Health Toronto. Participants highlighted the uniqueness of the blended approach, stating that survivors had the *option to choose* from a number of traditional healing and Western treatment alternatives. Participants also highlighted the importance of reconnecting to cultural identity as being essential to healing work for Indigenous populations in which colonization has disrupted "cultural integrity" for many communities and individuals (Reeves & Stewart, 2015). Reeves and Stewart (2015) further note the powerful importance of informing survivors of the intergenerational effects that colonialism has had on Indigenous communities.

The participants in my study identified that service providers with knowledge and experience in working with survivors, and who used a trauma-informed approach to care provided the most sensitive, compassionate, and understanding support. Participants further identified the need for additional funding for public services (such as mental health counselling, group therapy options and sexual assault centres) to increase their hours of availability, the number of service providers available for support, and their capacity to support survivors with historic trauma, as well as those with acute trauma. The participants recognized that the limited funding currently available for public supports and services critically affects their ability to provide care and creates wait lists, long wait times, and limits options for support. The literature also notes that organizations and policy makers who wish to improve the health and well-being of survivors of sexualized violence need to take action to improve policy and procedures that prioritize a trauma-informed philosophy to care, which includes appropriate funding for staff and services (Maguire & Taylor, 2019; SAMHSA, 2014). Further

recommendations to improve services and supports for survivors of sexualized violence are explored in the remainder of this chapter.

Foundational Knowledge

A crucial shared experience among participants was a pervasive feeling of confusion, shame, and having disbelief surrounding their assault. Some participants did not recognize that their experience was actually sexualized violence until years later. This delayed their ability to identify and address their own needs, and seek support and care for their victimization. Participants attributed this lack of awareness surrounding sexualized violence to limited knowledge regarding sexualized violence and sexual health in general, as well as limited knowledge regarding available services to provide care for those who have experienced sexualized violence. This finding is also reflected in a study investigating the experiences of women accessing services for sexualized violence who live in poverty (Sit & Stermac, 2021). The authors found that a number of the women interviewed lacked the language and knowledge surrounding sexual health and sexualized violence to identify their experience as an assault following their victimization, resulting in feelings of guilt, shame, and loss of control. The authors further noted that, due to this lack of information, women delayed seeking treatment for their experience of sexualized violence (Sit & Stermac, 2021). Survivors in rural Nova Scotia also noted that had education on sexualized violence and consent been provided to them at an earlier age, they may have identified their experience as sexualized violence, and been able to seek supports and services for their victimization sooner (Heggie, 2020).

Participants in my study called for bolstering and improvements to be made to the sexual health education curriculum throughout grade schools, as well as in post-

secondary education systems. One participant recalled that their sexual health education focused primarily on abstinence. Abstinence-only education promotes waiting to engage in sexual activity until marriage. Abstinence-only based programs do not provide information on deciding to and how to engage in safer sex behaviours which prevent health concerns such as pregnancy and STI/HIV. Such programs also further marginalize and isolate 2SLGBTQ+ children and youth (Fonner et al., 2014). In addition, abstinenceonly programs have been found to be ineffective in delaying initiation of sexual intercourse, as well as in reducing the number of sexual partners or the frequency of sexual interactions (Fonner et al., 2014). Currently, the quality of sexual health education in Canada is dependent on provincial jurisdiction and can vary greatly across the country, and from classroom to classroom. There is no framework to evaluate sexual health curricula and no national standard to which provinces must adhere (Action Canada, 2020). Educators are often expected to provide sexual health education without support and with varying levels of comfort in the subject matter, further contributing to the inconsistencies in sexual health education (Action Canada, 2020). This leaves children and youth vulnerable to receive limited education that is heavily influenced by their educator's personal beliefs and attitudes regarding sexual health and sexuality. Education which often prioritizes heteronormative, cis, and able-bodied perspectives, further marginalizes disabled and 2SLGBTQ+ youth (Action Canada, 2020).

Comprehensive Sexuality Education

The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) advocates for "comprehensive sexuality education" and provides *The International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education* which outlines the highest standard of

sexuality education (UNESCO, 2018). Comprehensive sexuality education must be adopted into classrooms across Canada and a framework for evaluating the standard of sexuality education provided to children and youth must be established (Action Canada, 2020). Comprehensive sexuality education is defined by UNESCO (2018):

Comprehensive sexuality education (CSE) is a curriculum-based process of teaching and learning about the cognitive, emotional, physical, and social aspects of sexuality. It aims to equip children and young people with knowledge, skills, attitudes, and values that will empower them to: realize their health, well-being, and dignity; develop respectful social and sexual relationships; consider how their choices affect their own well-being and that of others; and understand and ensure the protection of their rights throughout their lives.

Information provided in this guide was gathered from evidence-based research conducted in various countries worldwide and provides educators with guidance for developing informed, relevant, age-appropriate comprehensive sexuality education curricula. This guide provides objectives and information tailored to children and youth from 5 to 18+ years of age (UNESCO, 2018). UNESCO (2018) emphasizes that the guide can be adapted to incorporate local contexts and cultural considerations within education. Comprehensive sexuality education can be adapted for in-school use, as well as for non-formal and community-based settings (UNESCO, 2018). Evidence gathered to develop this guide highlights several outcomes from youth and children receiving comprehensive sexuality education such as delayed initiation of sexual intercourse, decreased sexual risk-taking, increased contraception and condom use, increased knowledge of sexuality, safer-sex behaviours, risks of pregnancy, HIV/STIs, and

improved attitudes related to sexual and reproductive health, such as attending to sexual health care, seeking and sustaining healthy relationships, and seeking consent (Action Canada, 2020; UNESCO, 2018). Providing high quality comprehensive sexuality education did not increase sexual activity or risk-taking behaviours, nor did it increase STI/HIV infection rates (UNESCO, 2018). Although findings demonstrate that improving sexual health and sexuality literacy improves attitudes related to sexual reproductive health which promote safer sex outcomes, seeking consent, and fostering healthy relationships, further research is needed to determine outcomes related to rates of sexualized violence (UNESCO, 2018).

The curriculum recommended in the guide highlights the serious risk to well-being that gender-based violence and gender inequality pose to society and recognizes that sexuality education including the social and emotional aspects of sexuality are key in preparing and empowering youth and children to make informed decisions regarding their relationships and sexuality (UNESCO, 2018). Comprehensive sexuality education provides space to explore diverse gender and sexuality perspectives and social contexts, taking a multifaceted approach to health education and promotion (UNESCO, 2018). de Beauvoir (2011) defines the belief that in society: "Humanity is male, and man defines woman, not in herself, but in relation to himself; she is not considered an autonomous being" (p. 26). This concept of "otherizing" diverse genders and feminine perspectives is pervasive within current society (Carpenter, 2018; Wingood & DiClemente, 2000). Indeed, sexual inequalities, gender and power imbalances are embedded at the societal level and within institutions such as justice, education and healthcare systems and are reflected within the state of current sexual health education within Canada, and

throughout the world (Richmond et al., 2013; Wingood & DiClemente, 2000). As previously discussed, current sexual health education often prioritizes heteronormative and cis perspectives of sexual health and sexuality. Diverse gender perspectives provide a holistic and complete representation of sexuality (UNESCO, 2018). Haberland and Rogow (2015) found that sexuality education programs which emphasized issues of gender and power improved reproductive and sexual health outcomes (such as positive effects on reducing unintended pregnancy and STI rates).

Consent education promotes bodily autonomy and empowers children and youth to define and respect their own personal boundaries, as well as to seek consent throughout interactions with other individuals (UNESCO, 2018). By providing this education to children and youth, societal norms can begin to shift and create a culture without shame regarding engaging in, or rejecting, consent for sexual activity at any point (UNESCO, 2018). Consent education has progressed from "no, means no" models, and now promotes requiring enthusiastic and affirmative consent, "only yes, means yes" (Beres, 2020). Consent education is a vital focus in sexualized violence prevention programming (Beres, 2020). Within the guide, consent education developed for children as young as 5-8 years of age primarily focuses on bodily autonomy, and the idea that every individual has 'body rights' (UNESCO, 2018). Consent education can begin in primary schools for children, ensuring attitudinal and behavioural change in adolescents, when youth are more likely to engage in sexual activity (WHO, 2009).

This guide to sexuality education should be adapted to local contexts and provided in schools as well as in community-based youth organizations throughout Canada, including Nova Scotia, as recommended by the United Nations. By utilizing this

established and reputable resource, educators would have a framework from which to develop comprehensive sexuality education programming based on current evidence and research, with clear positive outcomes (UNESCO, 2018). Although the ultimate goal is to eliminate sexualized violence altogether, the reality is that sexualized violence is an ongoing pervasive public health crisis, predominantly affecting women (WHO, 2006). By providing children and youth with comprehensive sexuality education, they are provided the literacy to recognize victimization, and take actions to assist themselves, and others, according to their needs (UNESCO, 2018). The researcher recommends that Nova Scotia school boards use broader resources for educating students, such as the guide provided by UNESCO, as it provides a more holistic lens of sexuality education.

The participants in my study believed that if children and youth were provided a foundational education in sexuality and sexualized violence, a generation of empathetic, knowledgeable and more trauma-informed members of society could be formed. These individuals would join the workforce better equipped to support potential disclosures of sexualized violence. Thus, creating a safer environment for survivors, regardless of which system from which they are seeking services (formal services) or supports (community organizations, family/friends). Furthermore, by providing children and youth with comprehensive sexuality education; societal beliefs, and the culture of perpetuating "rape myths" can be remedied: for example, harmful beliefs that sexualized violence only occurs to women by strangers; women "invite" sexualized violence by behaving or dressing in sexually suggestive manners; or that individuals working in the sex industry cannot be victims of sexualized violence. These harmful beliefs are so pervasive that they

have been shown to influence how police conduct investigations, make arrests and ultimately convict cases of sexualized violence within Canada (Benoit et al., 2015).

Intervention programs aim to support survivors in the aftermath of an incident of victimization. Programs such as Supporting Survivors and Self provides education to potential informal supports, such as friends, to increase positive reactions to disclosures of sexualized violence, and decrease negative, victim blaming reactions (Edwards & Ullman, 2018). Programs such as this are developed in an effort to decrease psychological distress and diminish self-blame in survivors who disclose their victimization. These programs also provide tools for peers to support each other and reduce feelings of isolation among survivors. Although programs such as Supporting Survivors and Self are predominantly delivered on university campuses (Edwards et al., 2021), a program could be adapted and embedded within a comprehensive sexuality education curriculum to be delivered in schools or community organizations for school aged children and youth. While more research is needed in relation to the effectiveness of these programs, and little is known about how they affect common outcomes of sexualized violence such as depression; preliminary data show that these programs may reduce self-blame and posttraumatic stress symptoms among survivors (Edwards et al., 2021).

Although the implications for comprehensive sexuality education are evident, education alone will not change the systemic issues of misogyny, gender and power imbalances prevalent within society that perpetuate a culture which allows sexualized violence to occur. In Canada, sexual health education and its implementation within school systems is politicized and often a part of many political agendas and platforms

among provincial and territorial governments (Robinson et al., 2019). Rayside (2014) notes hesitancy in implementing inclusive and progressive curricula such as comprehensive sexuality education, that potentially is due to the political influence of "religious traditionalists" or "religious conservatives" who oppose recognizing diverse sexualities and perspectives and "normalizing homosexuality." Although noted to be increasingly a minority in Canada, religious traditionalists have historically organized and protested school board policies which recognize, for example, sexual diversity (Rayside, 2014). Progressive frameworks and curricula such as comprehensive sexuality education may encounter similar hesitancy in Nova Scotia schools ultimately stifling furthering education of sexuality and sexualized violence. Advocacy to stress findings such as the detrimental effects regarding a lack of knowledge and education in sexual health and sexuality must be used to push school boards and policy makers to incorporate thorough and holistic comprehensive sexuality education for children and youth in schools throughout Nova Scotia.

Trauma-informed Care

The inclusion of posttraumatic stress disorder in the DSM is due, in part, to feminist therapists who were treating survivors of sexualized violence, intimate partner violence and childhood abuse (Brown, 2004). Brown (2004) highlights the efforts put forth by feminist therapists to challenge the misogynistic criteria of trauma within the DSM and identified interpersonal violence as a source of trauma. Feminist theory and a trauma-informed approach to care share core concepts and values, both are applicable in the practice of supporting survivors of sexualized violence as they provide epistemologies and theoretical frameworks with which service providers can base their

practice, rather than specific techniques (Brown, 2004; Pemberton & Loeb, 2020). Both feminist theory and trauma-informed care recognize the significant impact the systemic oppression of non-dominant populations can have and contribute to an individual's trauma (Brown, 2004). A trauma-informed approach acknowledges that every individual has experienced some form of trauma, recognizes the impact that trauma has on an individual's health and wellbeing, and actively seeks to prevent re-traumatization (Maguire & Taylor, 2019). As demonstrated by the results of this study, participants experienced re-traumatization through services and providers who were insensitive, invalidating and did not believe, or acknowledge, the gravity of their trauma or experience of sexualized violence. Participants voiced feeling supported by service providers who were non-judgemental, listened to and prioritized their needs, were understanding, and had experience supporting survivors of sexualized violence. These values align with trauma-informed care (Elliott et al., 2005). All participants voiced that simply having services and supports available for sexualized violence was not enough. Instead, service and support providers must be knowledgeable, understanding and ultimately able to provide trauma-informed care so as not to re-traumatize survivors. These traits were noted by participants who accessed services from Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners, in particular.

Principles of Trauma-informed Care

Adopting a trauma-informed approach requires ongoing attentiveness and willingness to shift the culture within an organization, in hopes of promoting a shift in culture on a societal level. Sexualized violence disproportionately affects women compared to men. These acts result from ongoing power and gender inequities within

society (Brown, 2004). The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) provides six key principles to trauma-informed care which services can embed within their current structure to adopt trauma-informed practice. These principles provide a guide for organizations to adapt trauma-informed philosophy and practice to their unique setting, rather than providing concrete steps or a checklist that must be followed. The six principles include 1. Safety; 2. Trustworthiness & Transparency; 3. Peer Support; 4. Collaboration and Mutuality; 5. Empowerment, Voice and Choice; and 6. Cultural, Historical and Gender Issues (SAMHSA, 2014). Pemberton and Loeb (2020), note that many of the core concepts of feminist theory are reflected within SAMHSA's six principles to trauma-informed care.

Safety. The first principle, *Safety*, highlights the need to create a sense of physical and emotional safety for survivors and for the staff within the organization (SAMHSA, 2014). The participants in my study voiced feelings of re-traumatization when accessing services that were provided in stigmatizing environments, and highlighted interactions in which they felt judged, badgered, and encountered victim-blaming behaviour. These experiences jeopardized the participant's sense of safety and negatively affected their mental health and healing journey. The concept of relationality provides further understanding on the detrimental effects that these negative interactions can have on survivors. Relationality, or lived-other, again, refers to the relations that individuals have with others in shared space (van Manen, 2016). van Manen (2016), describes relationality as being felt through the body, through physical contact and through perceptions of others and their body. When survivors encounter service providers who engage in insensitive victim-blaming behaviour, they embody those judgements which contribute to re-

traumatization, and affect their sense of self-worth. As emphasized by some of the participants in my study, it can result in hesitation to seek further support for their victimization. The embodiment of these judgements and the impact it can have on a survivor's sense of self emphasizes the notion that what affects the body also affects the individual (Goldberg et al., 2009) highlighted within the concept of corporeality. Corporeality emphasizes that the mind and body cannot be separated (Goldberg et al., 2009). Pemberton and Loeb (2020) advocate for service providers to educate their clients regarding the impact that trauma has on an individual's emotional, mental, neurobiological, and social functioning. The authors also promote working with clients to increase safer and healthier coping skills to manage mental health concerns which can be exacerbated by trauma. By normalizing and providing clarity surrounding the survivor's experiences, they can build self-compassion and contextualize their emotions and reactions which can improve mental stability and contribute to their sense of safety (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020). Feminist theory aligns with these concepts and seeks to assist survivors to build understanding of their situation and contextualize their victimization within the framework of a patriarchal society (Brown, 2004). Service providers should also inquire into their client's environmental safety, such as situations of intimate partner violence, and if necessary, assist survivors in locating appropriate resources and developing a safety plan (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020).

Trustworthiness and Transparency. The second principle, *Trustworthiness and Transparency*, refers to the need for organizations to conduct services, develop policy and procedures while maintaining transparency with their staff, clients and the public in order to build and maintain trust (SAMHSA, 2014). Due to their victimization feelings of

shame and fear of judgement, survivors may have difficulty trusting others, including support and service providers (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020). Several participants in my study voiced negative experiences in which they were unable to trust certain services, and service providers; in particular, those participants who reported their victimization to the police. These negative experiences led to a general distrust of the police for these participants.

Service providers need to work to build trust with their clients by maintaining transparency throughout service provision. To provide trauma-informed care, options and expectations for care should be clearly presented to clients with opportunity to address questions or concerns. Prioritizing transparency of the service provision process creates a more egalitarian relationship between service provider and client, and aids to build trust, these concepts align with feminist theory (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020). Trust can also be established in tandem with the first principle, *Safety*, by providing survivors with compassion, non-judgemental care, as well as validating and believing their experiences (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020).

These principles should be implemented within organizations that provide services and supports to survivors, including within justice and healthcare systems. Currently in Nova Scotia, within the province wide health authority, Nova Scotia Health (NSH), there is no framework for incorporating trauma-informed care into current practice. Anecdotally, as an employee working in mental health within NSH, there was no training, online or in person, regarding trauma-informed care. The trauma-informed care education I received was through the specialized training with the SANE program, through Avalon Sexual Assault Centre.

Peer Support. The third principle, *Peer support*, is crucial to the healing process when utilizing a trauma-informed approach. Peer support aids survivors in building trust, and community, while encouraging them to collaborate with others who share the lived experience of sexualized violence (SAMHSA, 2014).

Overwhelmingly, participants in my study called for more peer support opportunities and felt their healing journey was negatively affected by the lack of peer support available within Halifax Regional Municipality. Peer support provides survivors with the opportunity to create a network of support within the community and combat feelings of isolation which survivors often experience following victimization. It also provides survivors with the opportunity to gain perspective, understanding and validation from others who have similar lived experience (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020). Pemberton and Loeb (2020) note that feminist theory aims to normalize the process of sharing of human experiences through the sharing of trauma in peer support settings, thus creating social change dispelling common myths related to sexualized violence.

The participants in this study highlighted the importance of informal social supports, such as family and friends, who also had experienced sexualized violence, in their healing journey and in influencing their decision regarding whether, or not, to seek formal supports and services for their victimization. Participants also voiced a desire to start their own peer support group, called for less "specialization" in the treatment of sexualized violence, and more readily accessible, informal supports, such as group therapy and peer support group options. Increasing awareness and offering programs such as *Supporting Survivors and Self*, previously discussed in this chapter, may increase the number of positive informal supports for survivors (Edwards et al., 2021).

Peer supports have been used in a number of healthcare settings for various health concerns, such as mental health (Walker & Bryant, 2013). Mental health peer support workers have been found to act as role models who build connection with clients in recovery, and aid in destigmatizing mental illness. Peer support is mutually beneficial and can be therapeutic for both peer support workers and their clients (Walker & Bryant, 2013). Gregory and colleagues (2021) recommend that more research is needed into the use of peer support with survivors of trauma such as sexualized violence. The authors noted that although survivors reported a desire for the use of peer and group support, organizations were cautious due to the lack of training and education that peer supports have in trauma, despite their lived experience (Gregory et al., 2021). In contrast, Walker and Bryant (2013) argue that while some training can be beneficial to peer support workers; professionalization of the role can interfere with the unique perspective and advantage of peer support. There are a number of methods and programs for training peer support workers. They include teaching how to build meaningful connections with individuals and develop therapeutic relationships; how to provide and accept differing perspectives and "worldviews" as well as how these influence an individual's experience; along with learning how to navigate and facilitate the co-learning process and how to define and work toward goals (Ley et al., 2010).

One participant used online resources, such as Facebook Groups, for informal support. A concern noted by this participant and echoed within the literature by Webber and Moors (2015), was that there is greater risk of misinformation to be provided to survivors seeking support through unregulated channels. At the same time, Webber and Moors (2015) also note additional benefits of survivors when using online support such

as increased feelings of safety due to anonymity, social connectedness, the cathartic act of writing about their experience of trauma as well as the accessibility of online options. Online options for therapy have become more readily available and regularly used in recent years, as well as in part due to the COVID-19 pandemic. In an effort to maintain social distancing and ease the strain on the healthcare system, therapists and their clients have moved to videoconferencing platforms for therapy sessions (Békés & Doorn, 2020). Well established peer support groups, such as Alcoholics Anonymous, provide peer support groups online, as well as in person (Sanger et al., 2019). Similar formats could be adopted for survivors of sexualized violence. Online access to peer and group support as well as mental health counselling in general, allow survivors an easily accessible option. Further implications for use of online support include the ability for survivors living rurally, or in resource sparce areas, and saving in travel costs and time (Békés & Doorn, 2020).

Collaboration and Mutuality. As previously discussed, acts of sexualized violence are not about sexual desire or lust, they are violent acts of dominance and asserting power over an individual. A trauma-informed approach to care aims to empower clients by working collaboratively, and providing them with options to best address their needs, in an effort to restore a sense of control over their body (Elliott et al., 2005). There exists a power imbalance in the client-service-provider relationship, including that of client and healthcare professional. This power imbalance often occurs due to the perceived elitism associated with professions in the healthcare system, as well as the knowledge that they possess from extensive education (McQueen, 2000).

The fourth principle, *Collaboration and Mutuality*, promotes partnering with survivors to level this power imbalance and to empower survivors to share in the decision-making process regarding their care (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020). This principle of collaboration and mutuality not only involves the relationship between service provider and client, but the relationship among organizational staff as well (SAMHSA, 2014). Partnering with survivors in the decision-making process builds confidence as well as provides a space for them to discuss and question the service process and their experiences (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020). This concept is noted in feminist theory, again, as it aims to create egalitarian relationships between service provider and client (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020). The participants in this study noted positive experiences with service providers who presented them with clear information regarding their options of care, and respected the decision they made. These positive experiences included services such as SANE and some private psychologists accessed by the participants, both of whom had knowledge in trauma or trauma-informed care.

Empowerment, Voice and Choice. The fifth principle, Empowerment, Voice and Choice, involves using and building upon the strengths and experiences of survivors, service providers and organizational staff. The service provided should center around the needs of the client, and service providers should promote and celebrate self-advocacy. Survivors have a wealth of knowledge and strengths from their lived experience, the principle of Empowerment, Voice and Choice, recognizes and incorporates input based on lived experience into policy and procedure (SAMHSA, 2014). Organizations should amplify the voices of survivors and, through their lived knowledge and experience, advocate for changes to better suit the needs and healing of survivors of sexualized

violence. Feminist theories also aim to empower survivors and assist them in identifying their strengths and drawing attention to power and gender inequities within society, and how they may have affected them in relation to their trauma (Permberton & Loeb, 2020). Many feminist therapist's treatments focus on empowering survivors and assisting them to view their experience of sexualized violence within a greater societal context (Brown, 2004).

Cultural, Historical and Gender Issues. The final principle, *Cultural, Historical* and *Gender Issues*, which emphasizes the need for organizations to reject cultural stereotypes and prejudices, such as those regarding race, ethnicity, sexuality, gender, age, religion, ability, level of education, and socioeconomic status, etc. Organizations which provide services to the public must accommodate the diverse public which it serves (SAMHSA, 2014). Incorporating services for diverse genders, cultures and ethnicities within policies and procedures attempts to address the effects of intersectionality that result in the disproportionate victimization of women and populations who have been marginalized (Pemberton & Loeb, 2020). Survivors are not only victims of sexualized violence, or one exclusive identity, they are complex individuals with diverse needs based on the context of their lived world (Collins, 2015). A trauma-informed approach to care ensures that the individual's holistic needs and healing are met (SAMHSA, 2014).

The Indigenous and Black participants in this study emphasized the need for inclusive, culturally competent and culturally safe services for survivors of sexualized violence. The concept of *spatiality* refers to an individual's "situatedness", not only geographically, but the spaces they occupy and how those spaces, in turn, influence individuals (van Manen, 2016). Spatiality provides further understanding of how the

context of our lives and the societal groups in which we belong affect our ability to deal with trauma, such as sexualized violence. The concept of spatiality parallels that of a "feminist consciousness". A common goal among feminist therapists when treating survivors of sexualized violence, or those who have experienced trauma, is to awaken a "feminist consciousness" within their client (Richmond et al., 2013). A "feminist consciousness" is defined by Brown (2004) as an "awareness that one's own suffering arises not from individual deficits but rather from the ways in which one has been systemically invalidated, excluded, and silenced because of one's status as a member of a nondominant group in the culture." Survivors who develop a feminist consciousness can shift harmful internal beliefs - such as blame, guilt, shame - and acknowledge the impact that gender issues have had on the collective society and how they contributed to their victimization (Richmond et al., 2013). This both enlightens survivors to the ways in which society has contributed to their oppression, through sexism and discrimination, and empowers them to critically examine their resilience and develop skills to identify, and mitigate, opportunities for further discrimination (Richmond et al., 2013).

By further exploring the feminist consciousness and the concept of spatiality, organizations can shift the predominant patriarchal culture which has dominated the structure of our society since it was founded and continues to perpetuate the subordination of women and marginalized populations (Lerner, 1993). Lerner (1993) describes the deeply embedded patriarchal systems which pre-date the formation of Western civilization and emerged as "the dominant form of societal order," in which women's rights are subordinate to that of men. Constructs which, as previously discussed, distinguish male as the norm and female as deviant or other (de Beauvoir,

2011; Lerner, 1993). Organizations that wish to adopt a trauma-informed philosophy must bring awareness to these constructs within their own systems and develop procedure and policies which actively combat these societal beliefs (SAMHSA, 2014).

Colonial history has disrupted the organic transmission of cultural knowledge and methodologies among members of Indigenous communities. Due to this disruption, Indigenous researchers and scholars have recognized that for Indigenous worldviews to thrive, cultural knowledge must "live" in many environments, including Western education and research (Kovach, 2010). Aspects of Indigenous worldviews of health include a balance among mental, physical, emotional, and spiritual aspects of the self. Many Indigenous healers use a variety of methods to attempt to promote balance among these aspects of the self, such as counselling, prayer, visualization, special breathing, discussing dreams and visions, talking circles to promote healing through storytelling, "speaking from the heart" and community integration (Reeves & Stewart, 2015). These methods are utilized in culturally specific healthcare services for Indigenous populations (Reeves & Stewart, 2015). The medicine wheel is often incorporated into traditional healing practices, and acts as a guide for creating balanced relationships with people and with the natural world. The understanding of the Cree medicine wheel is similar to the understanding within other cultures and is widely used. Nabigon and Wenger-Nabigon (2012) provide an explanation of the Cree understanding of the medicine wheel:

The four quadrants of the medicine wheel cover four aspects of human life – feelings (vision), relationships (time), respect (cognition), and caring (action, physical, spiritual), around the core "fire" of the person, or what is considered the central location of healing in the heart.

The Indigenous participants in this study called for services and service providers to acknowledge *intersectionality* within their victimization and sought care that could engage with this perspective. Organizations that wish to provide trauma-informed services need to prioritize the diverse need for flexibility in their provision of services, and the ability to accommodate diverse healing practices, and ultimately provide a more holistic approach (SAMHSA, 2014). Efforts should be made not only to improve cultural competency and safety of staff, but to actively seek out staff from diverse cultures, in order to benefit from staff with a variety of experiences and perspectives.

Implementing Trauma-informed Care

A trauma-informed philosophy recognizes that all services and service providers may encounter individuals who have experienced sexualized violence, and other forms of trauma, despite not being a specialized service for sexualized violence (Maguire & Taylor, 2019). Ensuring that individuals who are providing support and services to the public have comprehensive trauma-informed training and education can equip them with the tools to support survivors regardless of the person to whom their disclosure of victimization is made. Schimmels and Cunningham (2021) found that healthcare providers who did not have trauma-informed training, lacked confidence when addressing trauma related issues, and developed avoidant practice habits regarding the topic of trauma. One participant in my study described an experience of a mental health counsellor who would not discuss their experience of sexualized violence with them, despite the participant voicing their victimization as a reason for seeking counselling. Heggie (2020) also highlighted the experience shared by women seeking mental health support for sexualized violence in rural Nova Scotia, who encountered counsellors and

therapists who would not address their experience of sexualized violence, and instead focused on other aspects of their mental health. This avoidant behaviour often ignored the root cause of some of their resulting mental health issues (Heggie, 2020).

Nurses often act as advocates on behalf of their patients regarding broader societal issues (Canadian Nurses Association, 2017). Education regarding trauma and traumainformed care are infrequently included in nursing school curricula (Schimmels & Cunningham, 2021). Nurses can implement a trauma-informed approach into their individual practice, contributing to improved patient care, climate, and education for patients (Schimmels & Cunningham, 2021). To fully operationalize the trauma-informed care philosophy, organizations that provide services to the public (in particular, health care, policing agencies, education systems, etc.) not only must provide education and training in trauma-informed care for its staff, but also must provide ongoing resources (such as funding for ongoing professional development and education) for service and support providers. An organization with a trauma-informed care philosophy concretely written into its policies, protocols and mission can ensure the longevity of service provision for survivors by preventing burnout in service providers, and providing staff with the knowledge to safely care for survivors and to guide the practice and procedures of the organization (Maguire & Taylor, 2019; SAMHSA, 2014).

Wachter and colleagues (2020) define burnout as "feelings of depersonalization, exhaustion, and difficulties doing one's job effectively, and is often associated with a very high workload or a non-supportive work environment." Those who are exposed to the trauma of others through their occupation may also be more likely to experience "vicarious trauma" (also known as "secondary trauma") which can involve disruption in

sleep, intrusive thoughts or they may avoid any reminders of their client's experiences. Those working with survivors of sexualized violence are at risk for experiencing burnout or vicarious trauma (Wachter et al., 2020). Factors which contribute to burnout and vicarious trauma include a lack of self-care, excess work stressors, personal experiences of trauma, and a lack of job satisfaction (Wachter et al., 2020). Organizational factors such as limited resources, racism, bias, lack of control, excessive caseloads, poor supervision, in addition to a lack of support from superiors, as well as lacking experience in the field and younger age also contribute to burnout and vicarious trauma. Burnout and vicarious trauma in service providers can affect the delivery of service and could ultimately contribute to negative service experience for survivors (Wachter et al., 2020). Indeed, Wachter and colleagues (2020) highlight the importance of organizations incorporating self-care and coping-related activities into practice to prevent burnout and vicarious trauma. A key component of a trauma-informed philosophy in any workplace includes personal, and professional, self-care for workers, as they may have their own trauma history, and again, are susceptible to experiencing vicarious trauma when working with clients (Salloum et al., 2019). Human resources within organizations must adopt a trauma-informed approach and provide opportunities for staff for ongoing training in trauma and peer support (SAMHSA, 2014). Salloum and colleagues (2019) highlight key aspects of implementing a trauma-informed approach which include collaboration among workers, a sense of safety, and on-going trainings and development for employees.

In addition, SAMHSA provide guidance on implementing a trauma-informed approach within public institutions and services sectors. SAMHSA (2014) highlights ten implementation domains, some of which have been discussed above, they include: 1.

Governance and leadership, 2. Policy, 3. Physical environment, 4. Engagement and involvement, 5. Cross sector collaboration, 6. Screening, assessment, treatment services, 7. Training and workforce development, 8. Progress monitoring and quality assurance, 9. Financing, 10. Evaluation. These implementation domains are designed in conjunction with the systematic alignment of the six key principles of trauma-informed care, previously discussed in this chapter. These domains highlight the responsibility of organizations to invest in implementing and sustaining a trauma-informed approach, as well as incorporating the knowledge from the lived experience of the clients to whom they provide service. Furthermore, the environment of the organization must promote physical and psychological safety and engage in collaboration with clients, family, as well as staff. Collaboration must extend across sectors with a shared understanding of the principles of a trauma-informed approach, to best meet the multiple needs of service users. Service providers should be trained in, and use, evidence-based interventions, that are culturally appropriate and trauma-informed. When service providers are unable to meet the client's needs, they must facilitate referral to appropriate trauma-informed resources. Organizations must continue to reassess and re-evaluate adherence to traumainformed principles throughout interventions and establish measures to evaluate implementation and effectiveness of the trauma-informed approach, using traumainformed research tools. The implementation of a trauma-informed philosophy is beneficial to both clients and staff across multiple sectors, including those who do not specifically provide service to survivors of sexualized violence; however, it is crucial to train those who most often encounter survivors of sexualized violence, such as those working in healthcare and the criminal justice systems (Maguire & Taylor, 2019).

Avalon Sexual Assault Centre (Avalon) is the only organization specializing in care for survivors of sexualized violence in Halifax Regional Municipality. Avalon is a feminist organization that aims to provide trauma-informed care to survivors of sexualized violence through publicly funded counselling, Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Program and prevention, intervention and awareness programs with the community. In April 2019, Avalon closed their wait list for counselling to new clients due to high demand, a wait time of up to two years to receive mental health support, as well as overwhelmed staff (Avalon Sexual Assault Centre, 2020). Many participants voiced wanting to access counselling services through Avalon, but did not attempt, or were unable to, due to the long wait for care. Additional funding is needed to increase Avalon's capacity for care, to hire and train additional therapists and counsellors to care for the survivors on their existing waitlist and to re-open their waitlist to new clients (Avalon Sexual Assault Centre, 2020). Additional funding is also needed to ensure that mental health counsellors and therapists within the public health and university systems as well as private psychologists are trained in trauma-informed care. This would lessen the burden of demand on specialized services for sexualized violence such as Avalon and would provide survivors with more options to receive knowledgeable, trauma-informed care (SAMHSA, 2014).

Policing Agencies

Particular attention must be drawn to the policing agencies (municipal police and RCMP) within the criminal justice system. The majority of participants in my study who reported to the police voiced experiencing victim-blaming treatment, disbelief and intrusive and insensitive questioning that demonstrated a lack of knowledge about trauma

and sexualized violence in general. The participants voiced feeling re-traumatized and that their mental health had been negatively affected through their interactions with the police. These findings are consistent with the concept of the "second assault" (Campbell, 2006). Experiences of the "second assault" or secondary victimization can occur when survivors encounter victim-blaming and judgemental attitudes from service and support providers regarding their victimization; exacerbating the resulting trauma from their assault (Campbell, 2006). The second assault is attributed to increased rates of physical and mental health concerns which negatively affect a survivor's healing journey, and contribute to reluctancy to seek further support for their victimization, and are often noted to be linked to survivor interactions with the police (Kennedy & Prock, 2018).

Survivors' feelings of hesitancy and a reluctancy to report an assault to the police is not unsubstantiated. Indeed, in Canada, from 2009-2014, only 12% of reported incidents of sexualized violence led to a criminal conviction (Rotenberg, 2017). In addition, cases of sexualized violence experience high rates of attrition within the criminal justice system (Quinlan, 2016). Prior to cases of sexualized violence reaching a conviction through a court of law, the police may dismiss reports of sexualized violence as 'unfounded'. The Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) define 'unfounded' as "after a police investigation, it is concluded that no violation of the law took place or was attempted" (RCMP, 2017). In 2016, the RCMP reviewed all cases that were deemed 'unfounded' and noted that 57% of unfounded cases had been misclassified (RCMP, 2017). Based on this review, the RCMP consulted stakeholders and law enforcement agencies to generate recommendations and develop a guide for investigating incidences of sexualized violence. Victim services professionals and victim/community advocates

across Canada were consulted for their expertise resulting in four areas of focus being identified as needing changes: police training and awareness, investigative accountability, victim support and public education and communication (RCMP, 2017).

The Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police (CACP) also provide a framework for responding and investigating reports of sexualized violence to be adapted by municipal police agencies throughout Canada (CACP, 2019). Both the RCMP guide and the CACP framework highlight the importance of a trauma-informed approach to investigating and questioning survivors, educating staff and the public on sexualized violence, as well as trauma and the way it can present in survivors, and the importance of partnering with, and using, specialized and community resources to best support survivors (CACP, 2019; RCMP, 2017).

Though the reports from the RCMP and CACP recognize the difficulty that survivors may experience when deciding and attempting to report their victimization to the police, there is little acknowledgement of the detrimental role that the criminal justice system has had in perpetuating "rape myths" and contributing to a culture of power and gender imbalance (Quinlan, 2016). Trauma-informed training must be prioritized for all staff in police and RCMP agencies and cannot only be reserved for specialized teams designated to investigate sexualized violence as that neglects the officers, or staff, who may have first contact with a survivor attempting to report their victimization. Marquis suggests that both police and the public view the powers of the police as open-ended; the mere presence of an officer can be profoundly influential for an individual (as cited in Schneiderman & Macleod, 1994). The police and RCMP workforce are traditional and male-dominated occupations (Marquis, as cited in Schneiderman & Macleod, 1994).

Thorough systematic changes within police and RCMP agencies are necessary to rectify power imbalances which dominate the criminal justice system and society in general, and to promote gender equality - not only in personnel, but also within policy and law (SAMHSA, 2014). Agencies within the criminal justice system must acknowledge their contribution to perpetuating a culture of disbelief in survivors, misinformation surrounding sexualized violence, and an acceptance of gender-based violence within society. Adopting a trauma-informed approach within police agencies is crucial for the safety of all survivors (SAMHSA, 2014).

Chapter 5: Conclusion

In this study, participants described the experience of deciding to seek assistance for their victimization, often facing a decline in mental health and dysregulation in their day-to-day lives. Participants voiced experiences of attempting to locate and navigate limited services and supports for sexualized violence, encountering limited availability, long wait times, stigmatizing environments, and service providers ill-equipped to care for the diverse needs and trauma of survivors of sexualized violence. Participants also highlighted the important role that friends, family and intimate partners played in supporting them when formal services and supports were not readily accessible. Participants in this study displayed their strength, resilience, and advocacy by sharing their experiences and made thoughtful suggestions for how to improve current services and supports to improve safety and accessibility for themselves, and all survivors. Finally, participants stressed the characteristics of the services and supports and their providers who aided them in their healing journey. Through conversations with the participants, a number of changes that are needed to provide survivors with safe and accessible supports and services became evident, these included ongoing mental health support for survivors, comprehensive sexuality education for children and youth and prioritizing the implementation of trauma-informed care across multiple sectors.

Survivors embody the effects of trauma resulting from an experience of sexualized violence, which can disrupt their sense of time, resulting in trauma from the past being felt as tangibly as if it were in the present (Edwards et al., 2021). Findings from this study demonstrate the ongoing effects of trauma felt by all participants. All participants voiced experiencing ongoing psychological and emotional effects resulting

from their assault, which continue to be felt long after victimization. This study highlights the need for long-term holistic, culturally relevant, trauma-informed mental health support for survivors of sexualized violence. There is a need for a variety of readily available options in mental health services and supports, including peer support, group therapy and affordable private counselling.

Prior to seeking services and supports for sexualized violence, survivors must first acknowledge that they have experienced sexualized violence. The participants' stories reflected a lack of overall sexual health literacy and drew connections between a lack of awareness regarding sexualized violence to that of limited sexual health education.

Comprehensive sexuality education provides children and youth with insight into the complex aspects of sexual health including interpersonal relationships, physical and mental health. Through comprehensive sexuality education, educators can facilitate and normalize having conversations related to consent, nurturing healthy relationships and sexualized violence. Further research is needed to establish a framework for comprehensive sexuality education within Canada. Providing educators with a national standard with which they must adhere will ensure consistent education is provided to children and youth throughout Canada.

Throughout the retelling of all the participants' experiences, it became abundantly clear that the implementation of trauma-informed philosophy across multiple sectors is imperative to the health and wellbeing of survivors of sexualized violence. Survivors are being subjected to further trauma through systems that are inadvertently neglecting their needs by not providing appropriate education and training to their staff and service providers. Although there are implications for utilizing a trauma-informed philosophy in

any workplace setting, the systems which most frequently interact with, and intend to assist, survivors must be prioritized, in particular the healthcare and criminal justice systems. By utilizing a trauma-informed approach, survivors' voices and experiences are recognized as valuable knowledge, and collaboration among services and service users can improve and develop services and supports that prioritize the diverse needs of survivors of sexualized violence. A trauma-informed philosophy not only benefits an organization's clients, but it ensures that staff and service providers are provided the appropriate tools to optimally care for clients, as well as themselves. Research into the implementation of a trauma-informed philosophy across multiple sectors is needed to gauge willingness amongst services and providers, level of current knowledge regarding trauma and trauma-informed care, as well to identify any barriers within current systems that may threaten the success of this approach.

Finally, this study aimed to better understand the lived experience of *any* individual who attempted to use, used or did not use services and supports for an experience of sexualized violence. The lived experience of specific populations (diverse sexuality, ethnicity, ability, etc.) is likely to vary greatly, and their unique perspective may identify additional recommendations to improve accessibility of services and supports for diverse populations. Further research into the unique experience of diverse populations is needed.

Knowledge Translation

Participants were asked during the informed consent process whether they wished to receive an update regarding the final results of the study in the form of a community report and had the opportunity to provide an email address. This community report will

be plain-language and will be made available to the general public. The community report also will be provided to Avalon Sexual Assault Centre, to be made available to their clients and staff. A report will also be made for the Nova Scotia Department of Justice to be shared with local policing agencies (Halifax Regional Police and RCMP), Department of Education and Early Childhood Development, and Nova Scotia Department of Health and Wellness. A report will also be shared with Dalhousie University Student Health and Wellness Services, and the counselling services they provide. Findings will be presented locally to the Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner program at Avalon Sexual Assault Centre. The reports will be tailored to each department to highlight the most pertinent and relevant findings and recommendations to the service provided. The results of the study also will be available to fellow researchers and academics through publication in a relevant scholarly journal.

Limitations

As this research used a trauma-informed approach, participants were encouraged to provide as much, or as little, information regarding their particular circumstances as they desired. Given this approach, interview questions focused on the participant's experience in general, providing opportunity for the participant to elaborate without being intrusive. As a result, sexuality as well as gender identity, were not specifically discussed. However, it is known that members of 2SLGBTQ+ and transgender populations are at increased risk of experiencing sexualized violence (Langenderfer-Magruder et al., 2016). In addition, due to their marginalization, their experience attempting to access, and accessing, supports and services for sexualized violence may vary greatly from other populations. Therefore, further research into their specific perspective is necessary to

improve accessibility of supports and services for sexualized violence for all survivors. The majority of participants in this study self-identified as women (eight out of ten) while two participants did not specify gender identity. There were no male-identifying participants recruited for this study, this unique perspective is missing. The gender demographics of the study participants are consistent with the literature and what is known regarding sexualized violence, in that women are at increased risk for experiencing sexualized violence (Conroy & Cotter, 2017) and was expected. However, the literature also identifies that individuals of any age, gender, ability, ethnicity, sexuality or religion can be a victim of sexualized violence (Conroy & Cotter, 2017). Further research is needed surrounding the perspective of diverse populations, and their experiences attempting to and accessing services and supports for sexualized violence.

Conclusion

Sexualized violence remains an ongoing public health crisis in Canada, the long-term effects of which strain our already overwhelmed healthcare systems. This study has provided insight into the lived experience of survivors who have navigated supports and services for sexualized violence within Halifax Regional Municipality. Participants in this study shed light on challenges shared by many yet rarely discussed openly. The stigma associated with experiencing sexualized violence can often leave survivors feeling alone, fearful and confused about where to seek assistance. Through the retelling of their experiences, the survivors in this study displayed great strength and should be commended for their contribution to this research. Participants provided a number of helpful suggestions to improve the service experience for survivors accessing supports in the future. The participants also recognized that supporting survivors and preventing retraumatization is part of a larger cultural shift that involves the education, criminal justice as well as healthcare systems. These system changes have the potential to change the way in which we perceive and care for survivors of sexualized violence.

References

- Action Canada. (2020). *The state of sex-ed in Canada*. Action Canada for Sexual Health and Rights. https://www.actioncanadashr.org/resources/reports-analysis/2020-04-03-state-sex-ed-report
- Adelson, N. (2005). The Embodiment of inequity: Health disparities in Aboriginal Canada. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 96 (S2), S45-61.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders DSM-5*. (5th ed.). American Psychiatric Association. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library. dal.ca/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Amnesty International. (2014). *Violence against Indigenous women and girls in Canada: A Summary of Amnesty International's concerns and call to action.* https://www.amnesty.ca/sites/amnesty/files/iwfa_submission_amnesty_international february 2014 final.pdf
- Andermann, A. (2016). Taking action on the social determinants of health in clinical practice: A Framework for health professionals. *Canadian Medical Association Journal (CMAJ)*, 188(17-18), E474-E483. doi:10.1503/cmaj.160177
- Avalon Sexual Assault Centre. (2020). *Preparing the Ground*. https://avaloncentre.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Avalon-Annual-Report-2020-WEB-FINAL-1.pdf
- Balsam, K. F., Rothblum, E. D., & Beauchaine, T. P. (2005). Victimization over the life span: A Comparison of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and heterosexual siblings. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73(3), 477-487. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1037/0022-006X.73.3.477
- de Beauvoir, S. (2011). *The Second sex*. New York: Vintage.
- Békés, V., & Doorn, K. A. (2020). Psychotherapists' attitudes toward online therapy during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, *30*(2), 238–247. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1037/int0000214
- Benoit, C., Shumka, L., Phillips, R., Kennedy, M. C., & Belle-Isle, L. M. (2015). *Issue brief: Sexual violence against women in Canada*. Status of Women Canada.
- Beres, M. (2020). Perspectives of rape-prevention educators on the role of consent in sexual violence prevention. *Sex Education*, 20(2), 227-238.
- Biros, M. (2018). Capacity, vulnerability, and informed consent for research. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 46(1), 72-78. doi:10.1177/1073110518766021

- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A Tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802-1811. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Bletzer, K. V., & Koss, M. P. (2006). After-rape among three populations in the Southwest. *Violence Against Women, 12*(1), 5-29. doi:10.1177/1077801205277352
- Boyce, J. (2016). Victimization of Aboriginal people in Canada, 2014. *Juristat: Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics*, 1-44. http://ezproxy.library.dal.ca/login?url=https://www-proquest-com.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/scholarly-journals/victimization-aboriginal-people-canada-2014/docview/1806172353/se-2?accountid=10406
- Braun, V., Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3*(2), 77-101.
- Brave Heart, M. Y. H. (1998). The return to the sacred path: Healing the historical trauma and historical unresolved grief response among the Lakota through a psychoeducational group intervention. *Smith College Studies in Social Work*, 68(3), 287-305. doi:10.1080/00377319809517532
- Brown, L. (2004). Feminist paradigms of trauma treatment. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 41*(4), 464–471. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1037/0033-3204.41.4.464
- Brownridge, D., Taillieu, T., Afifi, T., Chan, K., Emery, C., Lavoie, J., & Elgar, F. (2017). Child maltreatment and intimate partner violence among Indigenous and non-Indigenous Canadians. *Journal of Family Violence*, *32*(6), 607-619. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1007/s10896-016-9880-5
- Campbell, R. (2006). Rape survivors' experiences with the legal and medical systems: Do rape victim advocates make a difference? *Violence Against Women, 12*(1), 30-45. doi:10.1177/1077801205277539
- Campbell, R. Patterson, D., & Bybee, D. (2012). Prosecution of adult sexual assault cases: A Longitudinal analysis of the impact of a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Program. *Violence Against Women*, *18*(2), 223-244. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1177/1077801212440158
- Campbell, R., Patterson, D., & Lichty, L. F. (2005). The Effectiveness of Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE) Programs: A Review of psychological, medical, legal, and community outcomes. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 6*(4), 313-329. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838005280328

- Campbell, R., Townsend, S. M., Shaw, J., Karim, N., & Markowitz, J. (2014). Evaluating the legal impact of Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner programs: An Empirically validated toolkit for practitioners. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, *10*(4), 208-216. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1097/JFN.00000000000000049
- Campbell, R., & Wasco, S. (2000). Feminist approaches to social science: Epistemological and methodological tenets. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 28(6), 773-791. doi:1005159716099
- Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police [CACP]. (2019). Canadian framework for collaborative police response on sexualized violence. https://www.cacp.ca/crime-prevention-committee.html?asst_id=2059
- Canadian Nurses Association. (2017). Code of ethics for registered nurses (2017 ed.). https://www.cna-aiic.ca/~/media/cna/page-content/pdf-en/code-of-ethics-2017-edition-secure-interactive
- Carpenter, M. (2018). The "Normalization" of intersex bodies and "othering" of intersex identities in Australia. *Journal of Bioethical Inquiry*, *15*(4), 487–495. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1007/s11673-018-9855-8
- Coholic, D. A., Eys, M., McAlister, H., Sugeng, S., & Smith, D. (2018). A mixed method pilot study exploring the benefits of an arts-based mindfulness group intervention with adults experiencing anxiety and depression. *Social Work in Mental Health*, 16(5), 556-572.
- Collins, P. H. (2015). Intersectionality's definitional dilemmas. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 41(1), 1-20. doi: https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1146/annurev-soc-073014112142
- Conroy, S., & Cotter, A. (2017). Self-reported sexual assault in Canada, 2014. *Juristat: Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics*, 1, 3-34. https://www150statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/ 85-002-x/2017001/article/14842-eng.htm
- Cotter, A. (2020). Trafficking in persons in Canada, 2018. *Juristat: Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics*, 4-20. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/85-002-x/2020001/article/00006-eng.htm
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (fourth edition). SAGE.
- Dodgson, J., & Struthers, R. (2005). Indigenous women's voices: Marginalization and health. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, *16*(4), 339-346.
- Dukes, S. (1984). Phenomenological methodology in the human sciences. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 23(3), 197-203. doi:10.1007/BF00990785

- DuMont, J. Kosa, D., Macdonald, S., Benoit, A., & Forte, T. (2017). A Comparison of Indigenous and non-Indigenous survivors of sexual assault and their receipt of and satisfaction with specialized health care services. *PLoS One, 12*(11), e0188253. Doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0188253
- DuMont, J., & McGregor, M. (2004). Sexual assault in the lives of urban sex workers: A Descriptive and comparative analysis. *Women & Health*, *39*(3), 79-96. doi:10.1300/J013v39n03 06
- DuMont, J., Miller, K., & Myhr, T. L. (2003). The Role of "real rape" and "real victim" stereotypes in the police reporting practices of sexually assaulted women. *Violence Against Women*, *9*(4), 466-486. doi:10.1177/1077801202250960
- Edwards, K., & Ullman, S. (2018). Preliminary data on an intervention to reduce negative social reactions to victims' disclosures. *Journal of College Student Development*, 59(1), 105-110.
- Edwards, K., Waterman, E., Dardis, C., Ullman, S., Rodriguez, L., & Dworkin, E. (2021). A Program to improve social reactions to sexual and dating violence disclosures reduces posttraumatic stress in subsequently victimized participants. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice & Policy, 13*(3), 368–375. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1037/tra0000927
- Eisenberg, M., Lust, K., Hannan, P., & Porta, C. (2016). Campus sexual violence resources and emotional health of college women who have experienced sexual assault. *Violence and Victims*, *31*(2), 274-284. Doi:10.1891/0886-6708.VV-D-14-00049
- Elliott, D., Bjelajac, P., Fallot, R., Markoff, L., & Reed, B. (2005). Trauma-informed or trauma-denied: Principles and implementation of trauma-informed services for women. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *33*(4), 461-477. doi:10.1002/jcop.20063
- Fonner, V., Armstrong, K., Kennedy, C., O'Reilly, K., & Sweat, M. (2014). School based sex education and HIV prevention in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One*, *9*(3), 1. doi: http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1371/journal.pone.0089692
- Gagnon, K. L., Wright, N., Srinivas, T., & DePrince, A. P. (2018). Survivors' advice to service providers: How to best serve survivors of sexual assault. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 27*(10), 1125-1144. Doi:10.1080/10926771.2018.1426069

- Girardin, B. W. (2005). The Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner: A Win-win solution. *Topics in Emergency Medicine*, *27*(2), 124-131. http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy. library.dal.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=c8h&AN=106521723&site=ehost-live
- Greeson, M. R., Campbell, R., & Kobes, S. K. E. (2008). *Step-by-step practitioner toolkit* for evaluating the work of Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE) programs in the criminal justice system. National Criminal Justice Reference Service. https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/226499.pdf
- Gregory, A., Johnson, E., Feder, G., Campbell, J., Konya, J., & Perôt, C. (2021).

 Perceptions of peer support for victim-survivors of sexual violence and abuse: An Exploratory study with key stakeholders. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. https://doi.org/10.1177/08862605211007931
- Goldberg, L., Ryan, A., & Sawchyn, J. (2009). Feminist and queer phenomenology: A Framework for perinatal nursing practice, research, and education for advancing lesbian health. *Health Care for Women International*, 30(6), 536-549. doi:10.1080/07399330902801302
- Haberland, N., & Rogow, D. (2015). Sexuality education: Emerging trends in evidence and practice. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 56(1), S15-S21.
- Hajizadeh, M., Hu, M., Bombay, A., & Asada, Y. (2018). Socioeconomic inequalities in health among Indigenous peoples living off-reserve in Canada: Trends and determinants. *Health Policy*, *122*(8), 854-865.doi:10.1016/j.healthpol.2018.06.011
- Hankivsky, O., & Cormier, R. (2009). *Intersectionality: Moving women's health research and policy forward*. Women's Health Research Network. http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.630.7297&rep=rep1&t ype=pdf
- Health Council of Canada. (2012). *Empathy, dignity, and respect: Creating cultural safety for Aboriginal people in urban healthcare.*https://healthcouncilcanada.ca/files/Aboriginal Report EN web final.pdf
- Heggie, C. (2020) Accessing sexualized violence services and supports: Exploring the perspectives of women living in rural places. [Unpublished master's thesis]. Dalhousie University.
- Howard, D. E., Griffin, M. A., & Boekeloo, B. O. (2008). Prevalence and psychosocial correlates of alcohol-related sexual assault among university students. *Adolescence*, 43(172), 733-750. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19149143

- Hudson, A., Wright, K., Bhattacharya, D., Sinha, K., Nyamathi, A., & Marfisee, M. (2010). Correlates of adult assault among homeless women. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor & Underserved, 21*(4), 1250-1262. https://doi:org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1353/hpu.2010.0931
- Kennedy, A., & Prock, K. (2018). "I still feel like I am not normal": A Review of the role of stigma and stigmatization among female survivors of child sexual abuse, sexual assault, and intimate partner violence. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse, 19*(5), 512-527. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27803311
- Koeck, C. (2014). Imbalance of power between patients and doctors. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 349, g7485.
- Kovach, M. (2010). *Indigenous methodologies*. University of Toronto Press.
- Krug, E. G., Mercy, J. A., Dahlberg, L. L., & Zwi, A. B. (2002). The World report on violence and health. *The Lancet*, 360(9339), 1083-1088. Doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11133-0
- Langenderfer-Magruder, L., Walls, E., Kattari, S., Whitfield, D., & Ramos, D. (2016). Sexual victimization and subsequent police reporting by gender identity among lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer adults. *Violence and Victims*, *31*(2), 320-331. doi:10.1891/0886-6708.VV-D-14-00082
- International Association of Forensic Nurses. (2018). *Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner* (SANE) education guidelines. https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.forensicnurses.org/resource/resmgr/education/2018 sane edguidelines.pdf
- Lerner, G. (1993). *The creation of feminist consciousness: from the Middle Ages to eighteen-seventy*. https://hdl-handle-net.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/2027/heb.04213.
- Ley, A., Roberts, G., & Willis, D. (2010). How to support peer support: Evaluating the first steps in a healthcare community. *Journal of Public Mental Health*, *9*(1), 16-25.
- Lopez, K. A., & Willis, D. G. (2004). Descriptive versus interpretive phenomenology: Their contributions to nursing knowledge. *Qualitative Health Research*, 14(5), 726-735. doi:10.1177/1049732304263638
- Mackey, S. (2004). Phenomenological nursing research: Methodological insights derived from Heidegger's interpretive phenomenology. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 42(2), 179-186. Doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2004.06.011
- MacWilliams, K., Hughes, J., Aston, M., Field, S., & Moffatt, F. W. (2016). Understanding the experience of miscarriage in the emergency department. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 42(6), 504-512. doi:10.1016/j.jen.2016.05.011

- Maguire, D. & Taylor, J. (2019). A Systematic review on implementing education and training on trauma-informed care to nurses in forensic mental health settings. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, 15(4), 242–249. doi: 10.1097/JFN.0000000000000262.
- Mahon, P. (2016). *The Avalon SANE program evaluation report: Seeking healing & truth criminal justice, community & victim outcomes.* Avalon Sexual Assault Centre. http://avaloncentre.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Sept-19-2016-Final-Avalon-SANE-Program-Evaluation-Report.docx.pdf
- Marquis, G. (1994). Power from the street: The Canadian municipal police. In Schneiderman, D., Macleod, R. (Ed.) (1994). Police powers in Canada: The Evolution and practice of authority. (pp. 45-64). University of Toronto Press.
- Marsh, T. N., Coholic, D., Cote-Meek, S., & Najavits, L. M. (2015). Blending Aboriginal and Western healing methods to treat intergenerational trauma with substance use disorder in Aboriginal peoples who live in Northeastern Ontario, Canada. Harm Reduction Journal, 12(1), 14. doi:10.1186/s12954-015-0046-1
- McInturff, K. (2013). The Gap in the gender gap: Violence against women in Canada. *Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives*. https://www.policyalternatives.ca/sites/default/files/uploads/publications/National%20Office/2013/07/Gap_in_Gender Gap VAW.pdf
- McQueen, A. (2000). Nurse-patient relationships and partnership in hospital care. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *9*(5), 723-731.
- Merleau-Ponty, M. (1962). Phenomenology of perception. Routledge.
- Milliken, J., Paul, L. A., Sasson, S., Porter, A., & Hasulube, J. (2016). Sexual assault disclosure recipients' experiences: Emotional distress and changes in the relationship with the victim. *Violence and Victims*, *31*(3), 457-470. http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1891/0886-6708.VV-D-14-00144
- Monk, L., & Jones, A. (2014). Alcohol consumption as a risk factor for sexual assault: A Retrospective analysis. *Journal of Forensic and Legal Medicine*, 23, 55-61. doi:10.1016/j.jflm.2014.01.015
- Nabigon, H., & Wenger-Nabigon, A. (2012). "Wise Practices": Integrating traditional teachings with mainstream treatment approaches. Native Social Work Journal, 8, 43-55.

- O'Donnell, V., & Wallace, S. (2011). Women in Canada: A Gender-based statistical report, First Nations, Metis and Inuit women. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/89-503-x/2010001/article/11442-eng.pdf?st=FstBH4Gm
- Pearce, M. E., Christian, W. M., Patterson, K., Norris, K., Moniruzzaman, A., Craib, K. J. P., Schechter, M. T., & Spittal, P.M. (2008). The Cedar Project: Historical trauma, sexual abuse and HIV risk among young Aboriginal people who use injection and non-injection drugs in two Canadian cities. *Social Science & Medicine*, 66(11), 2185-2194. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.034
- Pemberton, J., & Loeb, T. (2020). Impact of sexual and interpersonal violence and trauma on women: Trauma-informed practice and feminist theory. *Journal of Feminist Family Therapy*, 32(1-2), 115-131.
- Penchansky, R., & Thomas, J. (1981). The Concept of access: Definition and relationship to consumer satisfaction. *Medical Care*, 19(2), 127-140.
- Perreault, S. (2015). *Criminal victimization in Canada, 2014*. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/85-002-x/2015001/article/14241-eng.htm
- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2017). *Nursing research (Tenth edition)*. Wolters Kluwer. P.742
- Pringle, J., Drummond, J., Mclafferty, E., & Hendry, C. (2011). Interpretative phenomenological analysis: A Discussion and critique. *Nurse Researcher*, *18*(3), 20-24.
- Quinlan, A. (2016). Suspect survivors: Police investigation practices in sexual assault cases in Ontario, Canada. *Women & Criminal Justice*, 26(4), 301-318.
- Rayside, D. (2014). The Inadequate recognition of sexual diversity by Canadian schools: LGBT advocacy and its impact. *Journal of Canadian Studies*, 48(1), 190-225,277. http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.3138/jcs.48.1.190
- Reeves, A., & Stewart, S. L. (2015). Exploring the integration of Indigenous healing and Western psychotherapy for sexual trauma survivors who use mental health services at Anishnawbe Health Toronto. *Canadian Journal of Counselling and Psychotherapy*, 49(1).
- Resnick, H., Holmes, M., Kilpatrick, D., Clum, G., Acjerno, R., Best, C., & Saunders, B. (2000). Predictors of post-rape medical care in a national sample of women. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 19(4), 214-219. doi:10.1016/S0749-3797(00)00226-9

- Richmond, K., Geiger, E., & Reed, C. (2013). The Personal is political: A Feminist and trauma-informed therapeutic approach to working with a survivor of sexual assault. *Clinical Case Studies*, *12*(6), 443-456.
- Robinson, D. B., MacLaughlin, V., & Poole, J. (2019). Sexual health education outcomes within Canada's elementary health education curricula: A summary and analysis. *The Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality*, 28(3), 243-256.
- Rotenberg, C. (2017). From arrest to conviction: Court outcomes of police-reported sexual assaults in Canada, 2009 to 2014. *Juristat: Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics*, 1-57. https://search.proquest.com/docview/1964552670
- Rotenberg, C., & Cotter, A. (2018). Police-reported sexual assaults in Canada before and after #MeToo, 2016 and 2017. *Juristat: Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics*, 1-27. https://search.proquest.com/docview/2136853816
- Royal Canadian Mounted Police [RCMP]. (2017). *The Way forward: The RCMP's sexual assault review and victim support action plan.* https://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/wam/media/2229/original/b32335a9b522fcf9fe4820d58cbf6348.pdf
- Rubin, P. (2008). Suffering in silence: An Assessment of the need for a comprehensive response to sexual assault in Nova Scotia. Nova Scotia Sexual Assault Services Planning Group. https://novascotia.ca/coms/svs/docs/SufferinginSilence_2008.pdf
- Ryan, F., Coughlan, M., & Cronin, P. (2007). Step-by-step guide to critiquing research. Part 2: Qualitative research. *British Journal of Nursing (Mark Allen Publishing)*, 16(12), 738-744. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.12968/bjon.2007.16.12.23726
- Sanger, S., Bath, P. A., & Bates, J. (2019). "Someone like me": User experiences of the discussion forums of non-12-step alcohol online support groups, June 2019. *Addictive Behaviors*, 98. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/ 10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.106028
- Scrim, K. (2017). *Aboriginal victimization in Canada: A Summary of the literature*. Department of Justice Canada. http://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/cj-jp/victim/rd3-rr3/p3.html
- Shaffer, C. L., Smith, T. D., & Ornstein, A. E. (2018). Child and youth advocacy centres: A Change in practice that can change a lifetime. *Paediatrics & Child Health*, 23(2), 116-118. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1093/pch/pxy008
- Salloum, A., Choi, M., & Stover, C. (2019). Exploratory study on the role of trauma-informed self-care on child welfare workers' mental health. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 101, 299-306.

- Schimmels, J., & Cunningham, L. (2021). How do we move forward with trauma-informed care? *Journal for Nurse Practitioners*, *17*(4), 405–411. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1016/j.nurpra.2020.12.005
- Sit, V., & Stermac, L. (2021). Improving formal support after sexual assault: Recommendations from survivors living in poverty in Canada. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *36*(3-4), 1823-1843.
- Starzynski, L. L., Ullman, S. E., Filipas, H. H., & Townsend, S. M. (2005). Correlates of women's sexual assault disclosure to informal and formal support sources. *Violence and Victims*, 20(4), 417-32. http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1891/088667005780927593
- Steinbrenner, S. Y., Shawler, C., Ferreira, S., & Draucker, C. (2017). The Lived experience of help-seeking by South African women after sexual assault. *Health Care for Women International*, 38(5), 425-438. doi:10.1080/07399332.2017.1290097
- Stermac, L., Dunlap, H., & Bainbridge, D. (2005). Sexual assault services delivered by SANEs. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, 1(3), 124-128. doi:10.1111/j.1939-3938.2005.tb00029.x
- Snyder, B. L. (2016). Women's experience of being interviewed about abuse: A Qualitative systematic review. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 23(9-10), 605-613. doi:10.1111/jpm.12353
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [SAMHSA]. (2014). *SAMHSA's Concept of trauma and guidance for a trauma-informed approach*. https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/d7/priv/sma14-4884.pdf
- Tembo, A. C. (2016). Phenomenological inquiry as a methodology for investigating the lived experience of being critically ill in intensive care. *Journal of Intensive and Critical Care*, 2(1) doi:10.21767/2471-8505.100017
- Todahl, J., Linville, D., Bustin, A., Wheeler, J., & Gau, J. (2009). Sexual assault support services and community systems: Understanding critical issues and needs in the LGBTQ community. *Violence Against Women, 15*(8), 952-976. https://doiorg.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1177/1077801209335494
- Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015). What have we learned: Principles of Truth and Reconciliation. http://deslibris.ca/ID/218850
- Ullman, S. E., & Filipas, H. H. (2001). Correlates of formal and informal support seeking in sexual assault victims. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *16*(10), 1028-1047. http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=c8h&AN=106793402&site=ehost-live

- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization [UNESCO]. (2018). The International technical guidance on sexuality education: An Evidence-informed approach. https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/ITGSE.pdf
- Valentine, J., Shaw, J., Lark, A., & Campbell, R. (2016). Now we know: Assessing sexual assault criminal justice case processing in an urban community using the Sexual Assault Nurse Practitioner Evaluation Toolkit. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, 12(3), 133-140. doi:10.1097/JFN.000000000000011
- van Manen, M. (2016). Researching lived experience (Second edition). Routledge.
- Walker, G., & Bryant, W. (2013). Peer support in adult mental health services: A Metasynthesis of qualitative findings. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, *36*(1), 28-34. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1037/h0094744
- Walters, A. J. (1995). The Phenomenological movement: Implications for nursing research. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 22(4), 791-799. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2648.1995.220440791.x
- Wachter, K., Schrag, R. V., & Wood, L. (2020). Coping behaviors mediate associations between occupational factors and compassion satisfaction among the intimate partner violence and sexual assault workforce. *Journal of Family Violence*, *35*(2), 143–154. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1007/s10896-019-00072-0
- Webber, R., & Moors, R. (2015). Engaging in cyberspace: Seeking help for sexual assault. *Child & Family Social Work, 20*(1), 40-49.
- Williamson, L., Bayly, M., Poncelet, E., & Lawson, K. (2020). "It's just one step in the right direction": A Qualitative exploration of undergraduate student perceptions of #MeToo. *The Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality*, 29(1), 11-24.
- Williamson, J., & Serna, K. (2018). Reconsidering forced labels: Outcomes of sexual assault survivors versus victims (and those who choose neither). *Violence Against Women*, 24(6), 668-683. doi:10.1177/1077801217711268
- Wingood, G., & DiClemente, R. (2000). Application of the theory of gender and power to examine HIV-related exposures, risk factors, and effective interventions for women. *Health Education & Behavior*, 27(5), 539-565.
- World Health Organization [WHO] (2006). *Sexual violence*. https://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/global_campaign/en/chap6.pdf

- World Health Organization [WHO] (2009). *Promoting adolescent sexual and reproductive health through schools in low income countries: An information brief.* http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/70102/WHO_FCH_CAH_ADH_09.03_eng.pdf?sequence=1
- World Health Organization [WHO] (2012). *Understanding and addressing violence against women*. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/77394/WHO_RHR_12.42_eng.pdf;jsessionid=DF916B391E3F1B867425114D6062112D?sequence=1
- Zhang, T., Hoddenbagh, J., McDonald, S., & Scrim, K. (2012). *An Estimation of the economic impact of spousal violence in Canada*, 2009. Department of Justice. http://deslibris.ca/ID/237372

Appendix A: Recruitment Material

Poster

PARTICIPANTS NEEDED!

We are looking for people who have accessed/attempted to access/not accessed supports and services for any experience of sexualized violence.

We would like to hear your views surrounding your experience and suggestions for ways supports and services could be improved.

What is sexualized violence?

Sexualized violence is any act of violence, physical or psychological, carried out sexual assault, sexual exploitation, sexual harassment, stalking, indecent exposure,

We invite participants who are:

- 19 years of age or older
 Any gender identity
 Have used, attempted to use, or not used services or supports for sexualized violence within the last 5 years

Services and supports might include, for example:

Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners (SANE), counsellors and mental health services. centres, support groups, family and friends, online forums, healing circles.

Your participation will involve taking part in one (1) individual interview with the researcher that will last no more than two hours. Interviews will be <u>confidential</u> and will take place in a mutually agreeable private location and time.

A \$25 gift card will be provided as a thank you for your participation.

For more information about this study, or to participate, please contact: Nora Conboy, BScN RN, MScN (c), Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner, at: "study email" or "study phone number"



PARTICIPANTS NEEDED!

We are looking for people who have accessed/attempted to access/not accessed supports and services for any experience of sexualized violence.

We would like to hear your views surrounding your experience and suggestions for ways supports and services could be improved.



Caption:

We are looking for individuals who have used, attempted to use, or not used supports and services for any experience of sexualized violence.

Sexualized violence is any act of violence, physical or psychological, carried out through sexual means or by targeting sexuality. This can include, for example, sexual assault, sexual exploitation, sexual harassment, stalking, indecent exposure, voyeurism, and any unwanted sexualized attention such as catcalls, persistent or aggressive come-ons, sexist remarks or jokes.

We are looking for participants who are at least 19 years of age and older, of any gender identity, have used, attempted to use or not used supports and services for sexualized violence within the last 5 years, and able to speak about their experiences in English. Services and supports might include, for example: Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners (SANE), counsellors and mental health services, physicians, nurses, hospitals, walk-in and medical clinics, community health centres, support groups, family and friends, online forums, healing circles.

Participation will include one individual interview with the researcher that will last no longer than two hours. Interviews will be confidential/private and will take place in a mutually agreeable private location and time.

You will be given \$25 gift card for your time and for participating in this study. For more information, or if you have any questions, please respond to this ad or contact: Nora Conboy BScN, RN, MScN (c) Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner "email" "phone number"

Email, Kijiji and Facebook Advertisement

Recruitment poster accompanied by the following caption:

PARTICIPANTS NEEDED!

We are looking for individuals who have used, attempted to use, or not used supports and services for any experience of sexualized violence.

We are looking for participants who:

- are at least 19 years of age or older,
- of any gender identity,
- have used, attempted to use or not used supports and services for sexualized violence within the last 5 years,
- are able to speak about their experiences in English.

Participation will include:

- One individual interview with the researcher that will last no longer than two hours.
- Interviews will be confidential and will take place in a mutually agreeable private location and time.

You will be given \$25 gift card for your time and for participating in this study. For more information, or if you have any questions, please respond to this ad or contact: Nora Conboy BScN, RN, MScN (c) Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner "email" "phone number"

Appendix B: Consent Form

Project title: Examining Accessibility of Services for Sexualized Violence: Understanding the Survivor's Experience

Lead researcher: Nora Conboy, BScN RN, Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner, Master of Science in Nursing Student, Dalhousie University, nora.conboy@dal.ca

Research Supervisor: Dr. Jean Hughes, Professor, School of Nursing, Dalhousie University, jean.hughes@dal.ca

Introduction

My name is Nora Conboy, I am a Registered Nurse and a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner through Avalon Sexual Assault Centre. Currently, I am a graduate student at Dalhousie University completing my Master of Science in Nursing. I would like to invite you to participate in the study I am conducting as part of my Graduate studies.

Your participation in this study is completely voluntary. You will not be forced into participating in this study, there will be no penalty if you decide to stop participating at any time, and you may withdraw from the study during the recruitment and interview process or up to a week (seven days) following the interview. The information below will describe what is involved in the research, what you will be asked to do, any benefits, risks, inconvenience or discomfort that you might experience. Please direct any questions you may have to me or my thesis supervisor, Dr. Jean Hughes (jean.hughes@dal.ca).

Purpose and Outline of the Research Study

The purpose of this research is to explore the lived experiences of ten (10) individuals 19 years of age and older, who have used, attempted to use, or not used supports and services for sexualized violence. I am looking to interview you about your experiences attempting to use, using, or not using supports and services for sexualized violence. I am also looking to understand which supports and services were used and why, challenges you may have experienced when attempting to use them, and how these current supports/services could be improved. A deeper understanding of the experience of individuals who have used, attempted to use or not used supports and services for sexualized violence can inform ways in which they can be made more accessible, safe and equitable for survivors. The interview will last no longer than two (2) hours.

During the interview, I will be asking you to answer questions, in as much detail as possible, regarding these topics. If you would like to be contacted about the results of the study, through a report, please check yes at the bottom of the consent form and provide your contact information.

Study Design and Participation

The study design involves one interview lasting no longer than two hours with 8-10 individuals who have used, attempted to use, or have not used, supports and services for sexualized violence, within the past five years. Participation in this study is voluntary.

Interviews will be in person or by phone and scheduled at a mutually agreeable time and place between the researcher and participant. In-person interviews will take place in a private room in a public building (e.g. community room in local grocery store, library, community center). Participants will be given a \$25.00 gift for their contribution to the research.

Once interviews are analyzed, I would like to contact you again to ensure that I understood our conversation and to ensure that your experience is represented correctly. This is a process called "member checking." This is optional, you do not have to agree to the member checking process to participate in the study. If you agree to be contacted again, by me, to review my understanding of our interview, please check "yes" at the bottom of this consent form and provide the best way to contact you (e.g. by phone call, text, or email). Contact will end between you and I, Nora Conboy, once the member checking process is complete, unless you consent to receiving the final report. If you do not agree to participate in the member checking process, contact will end after the interview.

Who Can Take Part in the Research Study?

You are invited to participate in this research study if you:

- 1. Are 19 years of age or older.
- 2. Are of any gender identity.
- 3. Have used, attempted to use, or not used, supports or services for sexualized violence within the last five years.
- 4. Are able to have a conversation in English.
- 5. Agreed to be interviewed and audio recorded for up to two hours.

Who Conducts This Research?

I, Nora Conboy will be the primary researcher for this study. All interviews will be conducted by myself, or my classmate, Clare Heggie, a Master of Arts candidate in Health Promotions at Dalhousie University. This study is approved by the Dalhousie University Research Ethics Review Board and my thesis committee which includes, Dr. Jean Hughes, RN, PhD (supervisor), Dr. Megan Aston, RN, PhD, and Dr. Lois Jackson, PhD

Possible Benefits, Risks and Discomforts

There are no direct benefits to participating in this study, indirectly you may benefit from a chance to reflect on your own experiences. In addition, this study, including your invaluable participation and contribution, will help us further understand the experience of survivors and improve current supports/services for sexualized violence.

There are some risks in participating in this interview. The possible harms of participation include emotional discomfort resulting from sharing negative experiences, due to the sensitive topic of research. Should you feel uncomfortable, remember that you can choose to: a) not answer a question or engage in discussion, b) take a break, at any point during the interview or c) stop the interview at any time and withdraw from

participating in the interview and in the study. A list of mental health resources for support will be provided to you.

Again, your participation is completely voluntary, and you can decide not to answer a particular question, or to stop participating. You can withdraw from the study any time during the recruitment and interview process and have your interview deleted up to one week (seven days) following the interview. There are no consequences to withdrawing from the study, you can keep the \$25 gift card if you decide to stop participating during or after the interview. If you decide to withdraw from the study at the end of the interview, or up to a week after the interview, all information prior to this point will be destroyed (any notes, and audio-recording, contact information, etc.).

Compensation / Reimbursement

To thank you for your time, you will be given a \$25 gift card to a local grocery store or Amazon. The gift card will be given to you at the beginning of the interview, there will be no penalty if you do not complete the interview, or to withdrawing from the study.

Confidentiality:

Your participation in this study and all your responses during the interview will be kept confidential. Your name, or other personally identifying information will not be used in any written reports, publications or presentations of this study. For ease of reading, fake names (or pseudonyms) will be used in any presentations, publications or reports. Direct quotes may be used but, again, will not be connected to your name - only fake names will be used. Audio recordings will be transcribed verbatim one week after the interview and will be checked for accuracy. Once interview transcripts are checked for accuracy, audio-recordings will be deleted. Interview transcripts, research notes and audio recordings will be kept in a locked cabinet at Dalhousie University for five years, then destroyed. Only myself and my supervisor will have access to this cabinet. All electronic data will be kept on encrypted USB drives.

The information obtained in this study will be strictly confidential unless required by law or professional obligations. If you inform me about abuse or neglect of anyone age 18 or younger, I am required by law to contact authorities. If I notice that you are at an immediate risk of harming yourself or other people, I am required by my professional code of ethics to seek assistance.

If I am required to disclose information about you, I will attempt to inform you.

Questions

If you have any questions regarding this study, please do not hesitate to contact me, Nora Conboy, at nora.conboy@dal.ca, or my thesis supervisor, Dr. Jean Hughes, at jean.hughes@dal.ca. If you have any concerns or if you have any questions about research in general, you may also contact Research ethics, Dalhousie University at (902) 494-3423, or email: ethics@dal.ca.

I would like to thank you for having the courage to come forward with information about your lived experience of having used, attempting to use, or not used, supports and services for sexualized violence, and considering participating in this research. Your contribution is invaluable.

Consent Form Signature Page

"Examining Accessibility of Services for Sexualized Violence: Understanding the Survivor's Experience"

Please check "Yes" or "No" to the following questions. Please note, to participate in
this interview you must Check "Yes." A copy of this consent form will be provided to
you for your records.
Do you agree for the researcher to audio-record the interview process?
Yes No
Do you agree for the researcher to use your direct quotes from the interview process,
knowing that only fake names will be used (no real names will be used) in written reports
of this study?
Yes No
I have read the above document regarding the study "Examining Accessibility of Services
for Sexualized Violence: Understanding the Survivor's Experience." I have been given
the opportunity to discuss the above information. All my questions have been answered
satisfactorily and I consent to take part in this research study. I understand that my
participation is voluntary, and I can withdraw from the interview process at any time.
Signature of Participant Date/Time
I have explained the above document and the requirements of this study including the
consent process. I judge the above individual understands the study requirements and
understands that this study is voluntary and that they are able to withdrawal at any time
during the interview process.
Signature of Principal Investigator Date/Time
Do you agree to be contacted to participate in the "Member Checking" process?
Yes No
Phone Number (text) or Email Address:
Would you like to receive a summary of the results of the study?
If yes, please provide an Email Address:

Verbal Signature Page Script

The date is	I have verbally revie	wed the consent form with the				
participant and believe that they understand the consent process. They have been given the						
	d their questions have been answere					
participation is voluntary and that they have the freedom to not answer any question and/or						
	v at any time during the interview,					
	that this interview will be audio-re					
They understand that they a	re not being asked to give up any o	of their rights. They understand that				
	confidential within the limits of the	•				
- ·	knowing that no personally identifi					
•	•	nd dated consent form via email, if				
	them about the Member Checking					
	agree to participate in it, knowing t					
that they do not have to participate in Member Checking to participate in the interview. I have told them that there will be a summary report available to them at the end of the study, if they						
questions or concerns.						
Participant #						
Email address for gift card l	nonorarium					
						
Dagaayahay ya wa	Cian otuvo	Data .				
Researcher name	Signature	Date				
Contact information if participant agrees to participate in "Member Checking" process:						
Contact mior mation if par	therpaint agrees to participate in	wiember cheeking process.				
Email address if participant would like summary of the results of the study:						

Appendix C: Interview Guide

Preamble: Thank you for taking the time to come and talk with me. I appreciate that it is not easy to come to this interview and speak to someone you don't know. Everyone's experiences and needs after experiencing sexualized violence are very different, there is no right or wrong way to seek, or not seek, support or services for sexualized violence, and there are no right or wrong answers in this interview. I am interested in learning about your perceptions and experiences with formal health-related supports/services for sexualized violence, and the factors which contributed to you deciding to use, attempt to use, or not use, these supports/services. Formal supports/services are provided in hospital, through community health centers, or community organizations which are financially supported and dedicated to providing resources and care to survivors, usually provided by trained professionals and volunteers. Formal health-related supports/services for sexualized violence can include for example: Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners (SANE), counsellors and mental health services, physicians, nurses, emergency department staff, clinic staff and community health centers. I am interested in hearing about supports/services that you wanted to use and tried to use, whether you actually used them or not and why, the things that helped, and the challenges you faced when doing so. I am also interested in other supports and services - either formal, health-related, or informal and not health-related, that you may have sought support from, that may have affected your experience. Informal supports/services can include, for example, family, friends, online forums and peer support groups.

General

1. "Can you tell me about your experience using, attempting to use, or not using formal health-related supports/services for sexualized violence?"

If formal health-related supports/services were used...

- 2. "If supports/services were used, which ones did you use?"
- 3. "Can you help me to understand why and how you decided to use each of the supports or services (if more than one was used)?"
 - Prompts: "Tell me about each experience... What was it like? How did the experience make you feel?" (using empathy to note the emotions)
- 4. "Can you tell me what you found positive, or helpful, when using each support/service? What did you find negative, or unhelpful, when using each support/service?"

Prompts: "Do you feel the service was easy to use or accessible? Was it easy to contact? Help me to understand how the service/support providers engaged with you? Were they supportive/respectful? Did they listen? Did they complement your strengths in seeking help? How did they help?"

5. "Help me to understand your overall experience with using each support/service. Do you believe that your needs were met by each support/service? If so how? ...and if not, why?"

Prompts: "Do you feel like your physical and social and emotional needs were met? Do you feel you received the help you were looking for? Did any of the services or supports connect you with additional resources or supports?"

6. "What suggestions do you have regarding how these supports, or services, and their access could be improved to better support survivors?"

Prompts: Location, timing, availability, attitudes/manners of support/service providers/ways of engaging with survivors...

If formal health-related supports/services were attempted or NOT used...

- 7. "Was there a support/service you may have wanted to use, or attempted to use, if so which service?"
- 8. "Can you help me to understand what you think might have prevented you from using supports/services?"
- 9. "Were your needs met in another way? Can you tell me about the experience?"
- 10. "What suggestions do you have regarding how these supports, or services, and their access could be improved to better support survivors?"

Prompts: Location, timing, availability, attitudes/manners of support/service providers...

General

11. "Were there any other services or supports, that may not have been formal and/or health-related, that you used or attempted to use – for example: legal services or police, online forums or peer support groups? If so, what were they, and how did they help, or not help?"

Prompts: "Can you tell me how you decided to access each of the supports or services (if more than one was accessed)? Tell me about each experience... What was it like? How did the experience make you feel?" (using empathy to note the emotions) Can you tell me what you found positive, or helpful, when accessing each support/service? What did you find negative, or unhelpful, when accessing each support/service? Do you feel the support was easy to use or accessible? Was it easy to contact? How did you feel service/support providers engaged with you? Were they supportive/respectful? Did they listen? How did they help?"

12. Were there any other social supports, that you used or attempted to use – for example: friends, family, peers, or colleagues? If so, what were they, and how did they help, or not help?"

Prompts: "Can you tell me how you decided to access each of the supports (if more than one was accessed)? Tell me about each experience... What was it like? How did the experience make you feel?" (using empathy to note the emotions) Can you tell me what you found positive, or helpful, when accessing each support/service? What did you find negative, or unhelpful, when accessing each support/service?

13. "Can you tell me what other supports and services you believe are needed for survivors that currently may not be available or may not exist, or ways existing supports/services need to change to better assist survivors?"

Closing: I would like to thank you again for having the courage to come to talk with me today. What you have shared will help build understanding about what services and supports are important, and ways they could be assisted to improve.

Appendix D: Resources for Participants

Avalon Sexual Assault Centre

- •Avalon Sexual Assault Centre is a not-for-profit organization whose staff respond to sexualized violence and abuse and offer support, counselling, education, immediate medical care (SANE) forensic evaluation, leadership and advocacy.
- •When you call, Avalon's Intake and Initial Response and Support Counsellor will work with you and provide sexualized violence information, support and referral to available counselling services.
- •Dial 902-422-4240
- •avaloncentre ca

811

- •Health information and services
- •A registered nurse is available 24 hours a day, 365 days a year to provide you advice, information and reassurance concerning all kinds of general health issues and questions, including sexual violence.
- •Service available in English, and French (interpretation services are available in over 100 languages).
- •Dial 8-1-1

211

- •Community and social services referral, available 24 hours a day, 365 days a year
- •Available in multiple languages
- •Dial 2-1-1
- •ns.211.ca

Independent Legal Advice for Sexual Assault Survivors Program -2-1-1

- •This program provides up to 4 hours of free, independent legal advice for sexual assault survivors who are 16 years of age and older. (Not required to report to police or take legal action by accessing this service).
- •Registration is done through an independent agency, 211 Nova Scotia. Dial 2-1-1 for intake.
- •https://novascotia.ca/sexualassaultlegaladvice/

The Sexual Assault and Harassment Phone Line

- •Phone and web counselling.
- •Offers non-judgemental, active listening and support to anyone who has experienced or has been affected by sexualized violence.
- •Service available by phone from 12pm -12am, 7 days a week.
- •The phone line is operated by Dalhousie Student Union.
- •Dial 1-902-425-1066

Kids Help Line

- •Free, non-judgmental, confidential and anonymous support for people 20 years of age and under
- •24 hours a day, 365 days a year.
- •Live online chat with a counsellor from 7pm –3am, Wednesday-Sunday.
- •Dial 1-800-668-6868
- •https://www.kidshelpphone.ca/Teens/Home.aspx

BroTalk

- •Counselling and information for teen males (and those who identify as male)
- •Phone or chat support.
- •Phone -24/7; Chat Wednesday 7pm –3am
- •Dial 1-866-393-5933
- •http://brotalk.ca/about

Transition House Association of Nova Scotia

- •24/7 support line
- •Emotional support and referrals for women who have been abused
- •Dial 1-800-563-1945

Victim Services Emotional Support

- •Emotional support for victims of sexual violence
- •No police involvement is necessary in order to get support
- •Monday-Friday, 8am-4pm, based on Halifax
- •Dial 1-902-490-5300

Mental Health Mobile Crisis Team

- •Intervention and short-term crisis management for children, youth and adults experiencing a mental health crisis.
- •Telephone support across the province, 24/7.
- •Mobile response in most communities in Halifax Regional Municipality, 1pm-1am.
- •Dial 1-888-429-8167

Trans Life Line

- •Peer support hot
- •Trans led peer support offering direct service, material support, advocacy and education
- •Available 11am-5am AST
- •General inquiries 1-510-771-1417 or contact@translifeline.org
- •Dial 1-877-330-6366

If participant is attending a local university...

Dalhousie University Student Health & Wellness Centre

- •Offers students primary and mental health services to promote and enhance students' health.
- •Counselling and psychiatry services are available by appointment and by walk-in.
- •Dial 902-494-2171
- •Same day counselling, online booking: https://booking.medeohealth.com/dalhousie-student-health-services

Saint Mary's University Counselling Centre

- Provides free and confidential personal and academic counselling and peer support services, by appointment, to Saint Mary's University students.
- •Dial 902-420-5615

Mount Saint Vincent University Counselling Service

- •Free personal and academic counselling services for Mount Saint Vincent University students.
- •Contact Mathew, the Counselling Intern to book an intake appointment by calling 902-457-6567 or emailing counselling@msvu.ca

Appendix E: Participant Screening Questions

My name is Nora Conboy, I am the principal researcher for the study "Examining Accessibility of Services for Sexualized Violence: Understanding the Survivor's Experience" and a student in the Master of Science in Nursing program at Dalhousie University. Thank you for your interest in participating in this study. I have a couple questions to determine if you are eligible to participate in this study.

Are you 19 years of age or older? Yes/No

Have you contacted, used or attempted to use services or supports (whether they were used or not) in response to experiencing sexualized violence within the past five years? These could be either formal supports or services (e.g. health services) or informal (e.g. family, friends, peer support groups) Yes/No

If participant answers no to either questions:

Thank you for your interest. Unfortunately, you are not eligible to participate in this study because (reason). I very much appreciate your expressed interest and taking the time to contact me. It took great courage for you reach out.

If participant answers yes to the previous questions:

I am also a registered nurse working as a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner through Avalon Sexual Assault Centre. Have you used the Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE) program through Avalon Sexual Assault Centre since September 2017? Yes/No

If the participant answers no:

Thank you for your interest, you are eligible to participate in this study. Would you like to schedule an interview?

If yes... do you remember the name of the nurses who met with you?

If the participant identifies the researcher as the SANE nurses who met with them:

Thank you for your interest. Unfortunately, you are not eligible to participate in this study as I do not want to place you in a situation where you might think you cannot speak freely about your experiences using the service, as well it may, inadvertently, be distressing for us to meet again. I appreciate you contacting me, and again, thank you for expressing interest in this study. It took great courage for you reach out.

If the participant does not identify the researcher as the SANE nurses who met with them:

Thank you for your interest, you are eligible to participate in this study. Would you like to schedule an interview?

If participants are unable to remember or is unsure of the SANE nurses who met with them:

Thank you for your interest, you are eligible to participate in this study; however, there is a risk that I could be one of the nurses who met with you. Some individuals may think they cannot speak freely about their experiences or may, inadvertently, experience discomfort, when meeting with a healthcare provider who has previously cared for them. This is a sensitive topic and I do not wish for our meeting, or the interview, to cause further distress or discomfort. With that in consideration, and the possible risk of this additional discomfort, you are eligible to participate in this study if you wish to do so, would you like to go forward and schedule an interview?

Appendix F: Letter of Support



1526 Dresden Row, 4th Floor • Halifax, NS • B3J 3K3

P: (902) 422-4240 • E: info@avaloncentre.ca

SANE Program Business P: (902) 422-6503

W: www.avaloncentre.ca

October 29, 2019 Dalhousie University Research Ethics Board Halifax, Nova Scotia To Whom it May Concern,

On behalf of Avalon Sexual Assault Centre, this letter is in support of Nora Conboy, BScN, RN, and her research study "Examining Accessibility of Services for Sexualized Violence: Understanding the Survivor's Experience" in fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science in Nursing Program at Dalhousie University. Nora is a Registered Nurse who has worked in the Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner program at Avalon Sexual Assault Centre since September 2017.

For over 30 years, Avalon Sexual Assault Centre has been a leader in raising awareness and supporting those who have experienced sexualized violence, holding sexual perpetrators accountable, as well as advocating and influencing social and systemic change. Avalon offers a number of services for those affected by sexualized violence including advocacy, counselling, education, immediate healthcare through the Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner program and activism.

Sexualized violence is a serious public health and human rights issue with both short and long-term effects on an individual's physical and mental health and wellbeing. The recent increase in demand of services highlights the need to optimize limited resources to best support those affected by sexualized violence. Avalon recognizes the need for further research surrounding sexualized violence and the experiences of those affected by sexualized violence. Furthermore, Avalon supports the need for feminist research exploring these issues. Nora's proposed research study intends to use a feminist lens to explore and further understand survivor's experiences navigating and accessing services for sexualized violence, aspects which align with the philosophy and approach to care of Avalon as an organization. This research provides a voice to survivors to speak of their own experiences and provide suggestions as to how services and supports can be enhanced to better fit their needs.

We recognize the need and strongly endorse the objectives of this study. The methodology is appropriate, and we believe the graduate student capable of successfully completing the study. We support her proposal and look forward to seeing the results of her research. Respectfully yours,

Jackie Stevens Executive Director

Appendix G: Confidentiality Agreement

This agreement is between:

Nora Conboy, BScN, RN, MScN (c) Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner and Clare Heggie, MA (c) in Health Promotion

For Project Title: Examining Accessibility of Services for Sexualized Violence: Understanding the Survivor's Experience
REB File Number: 2019-4967

Summary of job description/service provision: Confidentially and respectfully conduct qualitative interviews for the purpose of data collection.

I agree to:

- 1. keep all the research information shared with me confidential. I will not discuss or share the research information with anyone other than with the Researcher(s) or others identified by the Researcher(s).
- 2. keep all research information secure while it is in my possession.
- 3. return all research information to the Researcher(s) when I have completed the research tasks or upon request, whichever is earlier.
- 4. destroy all research information regarding this research project that is not returnable to the Researcher(s) after consulting with the Researcher(s).
- 5. comply with the instructions of the Researcher(s) about requirements to physically and/or electronically secure records (including password protection, file/folder encryption, and/or use of secure electronic transfer of records through file sharing, use of virtual private networks, etc.).
- 6. not allow any personally identifiable information to which I have access to be accessible from outside Canada (unless specifically instructed otherwise in writing by the Researcher(s)).

(Print Name)	(Signature)	(Date)

I agree to:

1. Provide detailed direction and instruction on my expectations for maintaining the confidentiality of research information so that <u>Clare Heggie</u> can comply with the above terms.

accordance with the Tri Council I	to <u>Clare Heggie</u> in ensuring confidence of the Policy Statement Ethical Conduct Dalhousie University Policy on the	for Research Involving
Involving Humans.		
Researcher(s):		
(Print Name)	(Signature)	(Date)